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          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Good morning

          3  everyone, and thank you for coming to this Education

          4  hearing.  Today is October the second.  It's

          5  Tuesday.  The third, rather.  And it's a beautiful

          6  day outside.  And let me introduce my colleagues

          7  that are present here this morning.  To my left,

          8  Maria del Carmen Arroyo, of the Bronx; and John Liu,

          9  of Queens.  And to my right, Simcha Felder, of

         10  Brooklyn; and Miguel Martinez, in front of me, from

         11  the Borough of Manhattan.  My name is Robert

         12  Jackson.  And I'm from Manhattan also.

         13                 Today, the Education Committee will

         14  hear from the Administration, unions, and advocates

         15  regarding public access to school yards outside of

         16  school hours.  We will also be hearing testimony on

         17  Proposed Resolution Number 134- A, calling upon the

         18  New York City Department of Education to make school

         19  yards available for public use outside of school

         20  hours.

         21                 I just want to make a few opening

         22  remarks, and then we'll move on to a brief

         23  presentation by my colleague, Council Member Gale

         24  Brewer, who is the primary sponsor of Proposed

         25  Resolution Number 134- A.
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          2                 School yards, which usually include a

          3  playground and open space covered in blacktop or

          4  asphalt, basketball hoops, and sometimes other

          5  equipment, are a vastly under- used community

          6  resource.  They are under- used because most of them

          7  are locked after school, on weekends, and during the

          8  Summer.  The big exception to this, are the

          9  playgrounds that are jointly operated by the

         10  Department of Education and the Department of Parks

         11  and Recreation, so- called, JOPS, which are open to

         12  the public into the evening, on weekends, and during

         13  the Summer.

         14                 Public outdoor space, particularly in

         15  lower- income neighborhoods, is scarce in New York

         16  City.  Recently, there was media coverage of an

         17  incident where a local teenager was electrocuted

         18  while climbing a fence to leave a school yard that

         19  was locked.  While this was thankfully a very rare

         20  occasion, and isolated incident, it adds to the

         21  poignancy to our discussion of the need for opening

         22  community access to public school yards, often, the

         23  only outdoor recreation facility in many

         24  neighborhoods.           The need for more public

         25  outdoor recreation space has taken on added urgency
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          2  in light of the growing epidemic of childhood

          3  obesity.  A survey by the Department of Education

          4  and Department of Health and Mental Hygiene, found

          5  that 43 percent of kindergarten through fifth grade

          6  students are overweight or obese. Nearly triple the

          7  national rate.

          8                 In addition, kids aren't getting

          9  enough physical activity during the school day.

         10  Recent surveys conducted by the public advocate,

         11  Betsy Gotbaum, and insideschools.org, found that

         12  City schools are out of compliance with State

         13  mandates for physical education, which calls for

         14  participation in a physical education program five

         15  days a week in grades K to three; three times a week

         16  in grades four to six; and three times per week in

         17  one semester, and two times per week in the other

         18  semester for grades seven through twelve.

         19                 Physical fitness has also been linked

         20  to higher achievement in research studies.  Perhaps

         21  Chancellor Joel Klein summed it up best when he

         22  stated that "Physical activity and constructive play

         23  not only promote a child's health, strength, and

         24  coordination, but also help in the development of

         25  social and cognitive skills.  All of the children in
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          2  our schools should have access to a safe, fun place

          3  to play and exercise during and after school."

          4                 Given the obvious need for more

          5  public outdoor recreation space, and the successful

          6  JOP model which has been functioning for

          7  approximately 70 years, we would like to explore why

          8  the Department of Education and Department of Parks

          9  and Recreation  --  explore with them ways to open

         10  up many of the school yards for public use outside

         11  of school hours.

         12                 And at this time, I'd like to turn

         13  the floor over to Council Member Gale Brewer, to

         14  make her presentation, who is the primary sponsor of

         15  Resolution Number 134- A.  Council Member Brewer.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Most

         17  importantly, thank you very much Chair Jackson, and

         18  Committee Members, and certainly the Speaker for

         19  allowing us to move forward.  This came about, this

         20  idea, because in my neighborhood on the West Side,

         21  we have playgrounds that are run by the Parks

         22  Department on Department of Education property.  And

         23  school yards that are run by the Department of

         24  Education and that are closed evenings and weekends.

         25  That didn't used to be true.  My kids, my husband,
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          2  all played basketball for years growing up on open

          3  playgrounds and school yards.  So it's a fairly

          4  recent phenomenon to have them closed.

          5                 And the reason that we're supporting

          6  this is that the issue that the Chair mentioned.

          7  Certainly need for recreation, obesity, health

          8  issues being of primary concern in the City.  But

          9  also the fact is that young people in my

         10  neighborhood for instance, there's a housing

         11  development right next to a closed yard, and the

         12  fact of the matter is that young people end up in

         13  the street.  The Council Member mentioned a horrible

         14  situation, somebody trying to climb into a yard.

         15  Hopefully that's unique, and not going to happen

         16  again.  But it is possible.

         17                 So, it is also of interest to me that

         18  I believe Council Member Helen Sears has told me

         19  that she has almost exclusively school yards in her

         20  district, and no parks.  So that's just one example

         21  of the need for this kind of opportunity.

         22                 And I want to be clear.  When we have

         23  parks that are school yards, they're packed.

         24  They're packed after school. They're packed on the

         25  weekends.  And what seems to be happening to the

                                                            9

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  credit of the Parks Department, is that somebody

          3  opens, somebody closes.  The Sector Supervisor for

          4  that area.  And then there's maintenance.

          5                 I think that that's a way to operate.

          6    Certainly there has to be supervision.  I don't

          7  know that there has to be somebody there all the

          8  time.  That would be the kind of issue that as we

          9  proceed with this project, as I hope we will, it

         10  will be looked at.

         11                 Every community is different.  Every

         12  community board and elected officials could discuss

         13  how they want things operated. The Trust for the

         14  Public Land has certainly done its share by taking

         15  over 25 school yards, and they're working to think

         16  of how to address the concerns for that

         17  neighborhood.  So there's so many ways of doing

         18  this.  I just think it has to be done.

         19                 Thanks to New Yorkers for Parks, and

         20  for Shu Loren (phonetic) and Bruce Lie (phonetic),

         21  and Tyler Smith on our staff. We've learned that

         22  opening all of the locked school yards in New York

         23  City would provide an amount of open space greater

         24  than Central Park.  So that gives you a sense of how

         25  much more open space we could have in our City.  The
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          2  Bronx has locked school yards equal to two Crotona

          3  Parks.  Two hundred and twenty- seven acres.

          4  Brooklyn has locked school yards equal to nine Fort

          5  Greene Parks. Two hundred and eight- seven acres.

          6  Manhattan has locked school yards equal to ten

          7  Washington Square Parks, one hundred and fifteen

          8  acres.  Queens has locked school yards equal to five

          9  Astoria Parks, two hundred and thirty- seven acres.

         10  Staten Island has locked school yards equal to one

         11  Snug Harbor, eighty- two acres.

         12                 I want to thank New Yorkers for Parks

         13  for this information.  In addition to our staff.

         14  And to say that I think this is a win/win.  I don't

         15  want the principals to be responsible for each

         16  school.  I want there to be a policy so that we

         17  think about opening, closing, safety.  But the

         18  bottom line is, we need a place to be active, and we

         19  need it to be right in our neighborhoods.  And what

         20  better way to open up the school yards? Thank you

         21  Mr. Chairman.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You're welcome

         23  Council Member Brewer.  And before we begin the

         24  testimony from the Department of Education official

         25  and the Department of Parks and Recreation, let me
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          2  just introduce my other colleagues that are with us

          3  today.  In front of me is Council Member Al Vann, of

          4  Brooklyn.  To my left, is --  in the middle, is

          5  Council Member Melinda Katz, of Queens.  And to my

          6  right, Council Member Lou Fidler, of Brooklyn.

          7                 And with that, we have in front of us

          8  Jamie Smarr, who is a Special Assistant to the

          9  Deputy Chancellor for Finance and Administration.  I

         10  believe that's Kathleen Graham.  Is that correct?

         11                 MR. SMARR: Yes sir.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And also, we

         13  have Deputy Commissioner Kavanagh, from the

         14  Department of Parks and Recreation. And my

         15  understanding is that the testimony is going to be

         16  by DOE, but Deputy Commissioner Kavanagh, you are

         17  available to answer any questions relating to Park

         18  situations.  Is that correct?  Or are you going to

         19  give testimony also?

         20                 MR. KAVANAGH: I'm just answering

         21  questions.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  Okay.  So

         23  with that, Mr. Smarr, please begin.

         24                 MR. SMARR: Good morning Chair Jackson

         25  and Members of the Education Committee.  My name is
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          2  Jamie Smarr.  And as you said, I'm the Special

          3  Assistant to the Deputy Chancellor for Finance and

          4  Administration.  I'm pleased to be here today to

          5  discuss playgrounds operated by the Department of

          6  Education.

          7                 Our students' health and well being

          8  is central to improving their learning, which is why

          9  physical education is equally important to teaching

         10  and learning, as it is to our operations and

         11  facilities planning activities.  Our Office of

         12  Fitness and Physical Education has adopted a

         13  comprehensive physical fitness curriculum, which not

         14  only teaches lifelong physical fitness lessons, but

         15  also provides a context for understanding why

         16  physical activity is important to the important the

         17  promotion of academic excellence.  The Office of

         18  School Food also hired an executive chef and

         19  instituted healthy new nutritional standards in our

         20  schools, with the aim of helping students practice

         21  healthy eating habits.  And, the Department, as you

         22  know, has aligned its five- year capital plan with

         23  our instructional goals and included a portion

         24  dedicated to upgrading and rehabing gyms,

         25  playgrounds, and athletic fields.
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          2                 The Department of Education operates

          3  680 playgrounds, and an additional 269 jointly with

          4  the Parks Department.  The Parks Department

          5  maintains these jointly operated playgrounds, and of

          6  course, DOE playgrounds are maintained by our school

          7  custodians.  With respect to the utilization and

          8  maintenance of our playgrounds, the Department's

          9  goal is to ensure that our play spaces are safe,

         10  clean, and secure for our students.  As a general

         11  rule, the Department of Education playground gates

         12  close at dusk.  However, principals cans establish

         13  the hours of operation of each DOE playground.  The

         14  reason most often cited for closing the gates of a

         15  playground after dusk include vandalism and other

         16  inappropriate or criminal activity.  Or, as a

         17  response to a police request or neighbor, regarding

         18  noise.

         19                 In Fiscal Year 2006, the Department's

         20  Division of School Facilities spent approximately

         21  $100,000 on repairs to playground areas.  This is in

         22  addition to the enhancements as outlined in our

         23  Capital Plan, as well as routine maintenance

         24  activities performed by our school custodians.

         25                 The Department of Education broadened
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          2  its efforts so that school playgrounds, which serve

          3  as an important resource for elementary and middle

          4  school students, were included in this Capital Plan,

          5  approved by this Council.  Playgrounds are needed

          6  for a variety of activities, including physical

          7  education programs, outdoor play time, outdoor

          8  classroom activities such as environmental science

          9  and gardening.  Many of these playgrounds, however,

         10  need new fencing, modern equipment, safety services,

         11  and paving.

         12                 The Adopted Capital Plan contained a

         13  new Parking Lots to Playground initiative through

         14  which the Department is partnering with the Trust

         15  for Public Land to create new play areas. While the

         16  scope of each playground project is similar  --

         17  excuse me.  While the scope of each playground

         18  project is smaller than that for the high school

         19  athletic fields, there are many more playgrounds

         20  that need to be restored.  Over 300 elementary and

         21  middle schools, as well as two high schools have

         22  outdoor areas that are larger than 60,000 square

         23  feet, that need major renovation. These play areas

         24  represent over 23 million square feet of recreation

         25  space.  At an average of 10 schools per year for the
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          2  remaining three years of the Capital Plan, at

          3  roughly two schools per borough, 30 schools can be

          4  renovated by 2010.  That will restore almost 2

          5  million square feet of outdoor space.  Four projects

          6  have been completed, and seven others are in

          7  progress. Other upgrades in this category include

          8  upgrades of gymnasiums, and repairs to existing

          9  swimming pools.  We thank the Council for your

         10  support, as your Reso A allocations have helped the

         11  Department in this endeavor.

         12                 The Department has also partnered

         13  with Take the Field, a public/private partnership

         14  that has reconstituted high school athletic fields

         15  in all five boroughs.  All projects have been

         16  completed, with the exception of some additional

         17  renovation work to the athletic fields of the George

         18  Washington Campus High School in Northern Manhattan.

         19    Its grass field is now being replaced with

         20  artificial turf, and the expected completion is

         21  early December.  When all is said and done, Take the

         22  Field will have rebuilt 43 outdoor high school

         23  athletic fields since the Summer of 2000, with total

         24  project costs of roughly $130 million.  Which

         25  represents, as I said, approximately $97.3 million
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          2  public dollars, and $32.5 million private dollars.

          3  This partnership includes a community- use component

          4  to ensure that members of the local community have

          5  access to these state- of- the- art facilities.

          6                 The health and well being of our

          7  students requires a comprehensive approach, which

          8  includes instruction about why physical activity is

          9  important, promoting eating habits, and keeping our

         10  available facilities in good repair.

         11                 I thank you for the opportunity to

         12  testify today, and will be happy to answer any and

         13  all questions that you may have.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.  Let

         15  me just introduce additional colleagues that have

         16  arrived.  In front of me is Oliver Koppell, of the

         17  Bronx.  To my right, David Yassky, of Brooklyn,

         18  that's standing.  And Council Member Dan Garodnick,

         19  behind me, that's standing.

         20                 Well sir, let me first of all thank

         21  you for coming in and giving testimony.  Obviously,

         22  we have a lot of questions. How many schools, if you

         23  know, do not have a school yard or outdoor

         24  recreation area at present?

         25                 MR. SMARR: I think that we know that
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          2  approximately 160 schools have no play yard or

          3  outdoor recreation area.  The reason for that can

          4  vary.  Lack of space.  Some of them are using

          5  adjacent parks.  Some of them are leased facilities

          6  that are in other buildings that you know, where

          7  they don't have their own space to  --  outdoor

          8  space that's sequestered.  But approximately 160

          9  school facilities.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And I assume

         11  that you would have a list of that that provide us

         12  those 160.  Is that correct?

         13                 MR. SMARR: Yes sir.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  If you

         15  can provide that, we'd appreciate it.  And how many

         16  schools have lost the use of all or part of their

         17  outdoor recreation area due to placement of

         18  temporary classroom units or staff parking, or

         19  otherwise?

         20                 MR. SMARR: I don't have that

         21  information with me, but I can certainly provide the

         22  Committee that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  We would

         24  appreciate that.  The recent surveys conducted by

         25  public advocate Betsy Gotbaum, and by
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          2  insideschools.org, both found that City elementary

          3  schools were out of compliance with State mandates

          4  for physical education.  How many schools comply

          5  with State regulations that require participation in

          6  a physical education program on a daily basis for

          7  pupils in grades K to Three, three times a week in

          8  grades Four to Six, and three times per week in one

          9  semester, and two times per week in the other

         10  semester for grades seven through twelve?

         11                 MR. SMARR: Excuse me. Again, that's

         12  information that I don't have with me, but

         13  certainly, our presumption is that our schools are

         14  complying with the law.  So it's kind of hard to

         15  make an assumption that all schools are not

         16  complying with the law.  We would have to

         17  investigate if that compliance is not being met.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well I think

         19  that  --  I would hope that all of the schools are

         20  in compliance with the State law. But it is clear,

         21  based on the reports by the public advocates and

         22  insideschools.org, and that the Department of

         23  Education is not in compliance.

         24                 MR. SMARR: Again, our assumption is

         25  our schools do comply with all State laws and
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          2  regulations.  Again, I can't  --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: That's not true.

          4    You know that's not true.  Right?

          5                 MR. SMARR: I can't start with a

          6  negative to say  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: But you know

          8  that's not true.

          9                 MR. SMARR: I don't know that that's

         10  not true.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well it is, in

         12  fact, not true. And I can tell you it's not true.

         13  And for you to tell me that  -- you know, I hear you

         14  that you are the Assistant to Kathleen Graham, and

         15  you're saying that you presume that all of the

         16  schools are in compliance with physical education,

         17  you know, when  --  what the requirements are that

         18  every child receive, on a daily basis, physical

         19  education programs on a daily basis for K to Three,

         20  and three times a week in grade Four to Six, and

         21  three times a week  -- then I'm going to ask you to

         22   --  you, via you, you're the representative that's

         23  here for the Department of Education, that would you

         24  provide us with the information as to whether or not

         25  DOE is meeting the mandates of the State Education
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          2  Department, regarding physical education.  But based

          3  on those categories, K to Three, Four to Six, and

          4  Seven through Twelve.  And I know that you probably

          5  can get that borough wide, but I would like to have

          6  it district wide.  Because legally, still under the

          7  State Education Department, and State law, there are

          8  32 community school districts, even though from a

          9   --  I guess from a operational point of view, the

         10  Department of Education operates within ten regions.

         11    So but I would like to have that breakdown by

         12  community school districts because legally, that's

         13  still what we deal with, even though, from a

         14  practical point of view, there's ten regions.  So I

         15  ask of you.

         16                 MR. SMARR: We will respond.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I appreciate it.

         18

         19                 Can you maybe  --  why are the vast

         20  majority of the Department of Education- controlled

         21  school yards locked after school, on weekends, and

         22  during the Summer months?

         23                 MR. SMARR: Again, one of the central

         24  tenets of the way we operate schools is that we

         25  allow principals who are accountable for their
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          2  buildings in their school communities to make

          3  decisions regarding the use of their playgrounds

          4  after dusk hours. So the primary reason these

          5  facilities are locked is because they're at the

          6  request of the principal.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So you're

          8  telling me that the primary reason that the school

          9  yards are locked after school, on weekends, and

         10  during Summer months is mainly at the request of the

         11  principals.  Is that what you're telling me?

         12                 MR. SMARR: Yes sir.  I said after

         13  dusk, they are locked at the request of the

         14  principal.  The principal has to be accountable to

         15  their school community for incidents of vandalism.

         16  They have to keep their school yard  --  they have

         17  to be able to operate them each and every school

         18  day.  And incidents of vandalism and fear of crime,

         19  and criminal activities taking place in their school

         20  yards are a primary concern for them.  As you have

         21  mentioned, some principals have decided to open up

         22  their school yards, and have done so.  And we are

         23  very supportive of that.

         24  But when a principal requests that their physical

         25  plant be maintained according to you know, their
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          2  directives to the custodian, we do respect and honor

          3  that request.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So what about

          5  the policy on the weekends?

          6                 MR. SMARR: Well,  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: When the

          8  principal normally you know, are not there.  And

          9  then during the Summer, when basically, the majority

         10  of the schools are closed during the Summer, and the

         11  majority of them in that they have Summer programs

         12  there, what is the policy of DOE as far as opening

         13  up  --  opening up the school yards so that

         14  communities, so that children will have an

         15  opportunity to participate to play, to ride their

         16  bikes, to hit tennis balls up against the wall, to

         17  play little stick ball or whiffle ball in the yard,

         18  to shoot hoops, to run around and throw a football?

         19  What is the policy of DOE regarding opening up  --

         20  and that's what I'm more concerned about.  I mean,

         21  it seems as though that DOE is saying, well, it's up

         22  to the principal.  But we want to know what's the

         23  policy with you.  With DOE, as far as opening up

         24  these yards so our children will have access.

         25                 MR. SMARR: Well let's deal first of
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          2  all with weekends.  Weekends  --  I mean, there are

          3  incidents of vandalism that take place over

          4  weekends, and come Monday morning, the school yard

          5  would not be ready for children to use it.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: But are those

          7  incidents  --

          8                 MR. SMARR: Could I just finish sir?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Sure.  You can.

         10                 MR. SMARR: And with respect to the

         11  Summer months, that's really an operational issue,

         12  because then schools are closed, and there are no

         13  budget funds to maintain those school yards over the

         14  Summer months.  So that is really an issue that's a

         15  little different from  --  not entirely different, I

         16  should correct myself.  But you would then have a

         17  concerns about use of the school playgrounds during

         18  the Summer months, and concerns about vandalism. And

         19  also, an additional concern that there simply is no

         20  money to maintain those school yards during the

         21  school months, which is  -- during the Summer

         22  months.  Which is why they are locked.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: When you mean

         24   "maintain the school yards", what do you mean by

         25  maintaining the school yards? You mean cleaning them
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          2  up if there is broken bottles?  Or if there is trash

          3  in the school yards?  Is that what you mean?

          4                 MR. SMARR: Yes sir. When schools are

          5  closed for the eight weeks during the Summer,

          6  there's no funds to maintain those buildings.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  So here's

          8  a school yard during the Summer. And it's locked up.

          9    And the community cannot use it.  And not unless

         10  the kids are climbing over the fence, or someone

         11  cuts a hole in the fence in order to access it.

         12  Because they're looking through a fence.  That there

         13  are basketball courts, or there are 40 acres or 30

         14  acres and there's no one using it, and there's a

         15  prime opportunity for me to go in there to go in

         16  there to ride my bike, or to play whiffle ball or to

         17  shoot hoops, and I'm being locked out, basically.

         18  I'm being locked out, because you're telling me that

         19  there's not enough money in the budget for someone,

         20  a custodian's helper to make sure that the yard is

         21  clean on a daily basis.  That's not acceptable to

         22  the Members of the City Council. Let me just say

         23  that right now.  And you know we, meaning you,

         24  meaning the City of New York.  Not only DOE, but I'm

         25  saying the City of New York.  We can find money for
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          2  a lot of other things. You know.  And it seems as

          3  though that the reasoning and logic that you're

          4  giving is that there's no money to open up the

          5  school yards during the Summer months, and on

          6  weekends, for the people of the community to have

          7  access to.  And I'm saying to you, my personal

          8  opinion, and as a Chair of the Education Committee,

          9  that's not acceptable.  And in fact, as a young

         10  teenager, as a young child growing up in New York

         11  City, I did the same thing that that young teenager

         12  that was killed.  I used to climb over to access the

         13  school yard in order to play basketball.  And we

         14  should not  -- our children should not have to climb

         15  over the fence to access the school yard, or to cut

         16  a hole in the fence to access the school yard so we

         17  can go and play.

         18                 Now you agree we shouldn't have to do

         19  that to play in the school yard, right?

         20                 MR. SMARR: I don't know if you  --

         21  did you ask me a question there somewhere?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I'm asking you a

         23  question.  Do you agree that children should not

         24  have to climb over a fence that's locked or cut a

         25  hole in the fence in order to access play in the
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          2  school yard?  Do you agree with that or disagree?

          3                 MR. SMARR: Well sir, you've asked me

          4  a question that seems to be related to a particular

          5  tragic incident, which you know, is really something

          6  that I've been advised regards to litigation against

          7  us.  Yes sir  --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I am not asking

          9  you a question about that specific situation.  I

         10  asked you a general question sir. And my general

         11  question to you was, do you agree that children

         12  should not have to climb over a locked fence or

         13  gate, or cut a hole in a fence to access a school

         14  yard that is sitting there empty, that they want to

         15  use to play in?

         16                 MR. SMARR: Well again, I'm not going

         17  to answer that question, because it regards, I

         18  believe, a pending claim or litigation against the

         19  City, and I'm not going to comment on that.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well let me

         21  answer for you. The answer is that I know that you

         22  as an individual, would say that you would agree

         23  with me.  And if in fact, if I was your boss, if you

         24  didn't agree, I would fire you.  I'm telling you.

         25  If I was your boss, and if you didn't agree that
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          2  children should not have to climb over a fence or

          3  cut a hole in a fence to access school yards, if you

          4  didn't agree with that, I would fire you.  Because

          5  you're not going along with basically the philosophy

          6  that our children deserve places to play.  And quite

          7  frankly, anyone with that  -- and I'm not saying

          8  that that's your position.  I'm saying if it was,

          9  you wouldn't work for me.

         10                 Let me just turn it over to my

         11  colleague, Council Member Gale Brewer.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         13  much Mr. Chair.

         14                 The first issue  --  I've had this

         15  conversation during the budget hearings.  Principals

         16  to make the decisions.  I feel very strongly that is

         17  not fair.  We've asked principals, and when we do,

         18  the problem is they're making a decision without any

         19  policy.  There could be some situation.  They'll be

         20  on the front page of The Post.  And I don't think

         21  that's fair.  I feel very, very strongly that we

         22  should not put this individual decision about

         23  opening up the school yards, as they should,

         24  evenings, weekends, and Summer, on each individual

         25  principal.
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          2                 So I'm just going to go beyond that

          3  and let you know that that is really not an

          4  acceptable answer.  That is the Department of

          5  Education's answer.  They gave it during the  --

          6  the Chancellor gave it during the budget hearings.

          7  I'm just saying that's not acceptable.

          8                 Let me go beyond that.  The

          9  Department had this  -- I've had this conversation

         10  about opening up school yards with the Commissioner

         11  of the Department of Youth and Community

         12  Development. I've had this conversation with the

         13  Parks Commissioner.  I've had this conversation with

         14  the Commissioner of Health.  And I will speak for

         15  them.  They can speak for themselves, obviously.

         16  You can ask them.  There is a general consensus that

         17  this concept makes sense.  The only agency that is

         18  not on board is DOE.  And the question is, are you

         19  willing to work  --  funding obviously has to be

         20  part of this  --  with these agencies, particularly

         21  Parks, to expand the number of jointly operated

         22  playgrounds in the City of New York?  Are you

         23  willing to sit down and try to hammer out these

         24  kinds of jointly operated playgrounds?

         25                 MR. SMARR: Well let me just respond
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          2  by saying that the kind of conversations that you're

          3  describing, they are, more or less taking place.

          4  And I think behind your comment, you're saying there

          5  needs to be an infrastructure to make more of these

          6  type arrangements happen.  So I want to report that

          7  yes, we are having those conversations.  We're not

          8  ready to say anything right now, or formerly

          9  announce anything, but I'm very hopeful that you

         10  know, we will develop more of an infrastructure to

         11  help more of these JOP like openings take place in

         12  the future.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And what is

         14  the timing of this discussion?

         15                 MR. SMARR: Those discussions are

         16  ongoing now.  But you know, I can't give you

         17  anything specific about the exact day when we might

         18  be able to come back to you.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: All right.

         20  Would you list some of the obstacles to making

         21  school yards available during outside hours?

         22  Obviously funding, insurance  --  is insurance an

         23  issue?  What is the issue with insurance?  That is

         24  always thrown up in our face when we try to have

         25  activities or say we want something opened, is the
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          2  insurance issue.

          3                 MR. SMARR: Well there are a number of

          4  issues.  And-

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Can you list

          6  them please?

          7                 MR. SMARR: And I would not  --

          8  again, I don't want to characterize this as to the

          9  principals, this is like an all or nothing type

         10  argument.  I think that a lot of principals do want

         11  to open up their playgrounds, but they have

         12  legitimate concerns about specifically how that

         13  would work.  And what is going to happen if

         14  something happens over a weekend, and then Monday

         15  morning,  --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: That's why we

         17  need a Citywide policy.

         18                 MR. SMARR: We are having those

         19  conversations about establishing a better

         20  infrastructure to open up more of these facilities.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Do you know

         22  the costs of keeping open the jointly operated

         23  playgrounds, per playground?

         24                 MR. SMARR: We have some preliminary

         25  numbers.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Well they

          3  exist.

          4                 MR. SMARR: No, I'm talking about for

          5  this specific type thing that we're  --  have been

          6  discussing.  About an expansion.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.  Do you

          8  know how many --  currently, I think you mentioned

          9  it in your testimony  -- there are some DPR and DOE

         10  jointly operated.  Can either you or Deputy

         11  Commissioner Kavanagh tell us how much, per

         12  playground, and how the staffing works?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: Good

         14  morning Council Member Brewer.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Good morning

         16  sir.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: The

         18  jointly operated playgrounds cost, on average,

         19  $44,000 a year to operate.  That varies greatly with

         20  the size and nature of the facility, of course.

         21  There are 269 playgrounds, as Mr. Smarr mentioned,

         22  that are in the program.  Approximately 149 have

         23  comfort stations, which means that they are more

         24  substantial facilities.  And they tend to have large

         25  playgrounds than some of the others.  And costs
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          2  would be higher at those places than at the

          3  playgrounds that don't have those features and

          4  facilities.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.  And how

          6  is it operated in terms of safety features?

          7  Obviously somebody opens it. Somebody closes it.

          8  And I see your wonderful maintenance people there.

          9  So what is the staffing for  --  just general.  You

         10  can't be specific for all of them.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: It

         12  varies based on the nature of the site.  Those that

         13  can be staffed on a full- time basis, are.  Others

         14  that don't have the infrastructure to support a

         15  full- time staff person are either visited by a

         16  mobile crew, which is several people who are

         17  responsible for a number of parks or park facilities

         18  within a district.  Or it might be maintained by a

         19  staff person who works in relative proximity and can

         20  walk to that site.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.  Mr.

         22  Chair, let others go.  I could go on and on, but I

         23  know others have questions.  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you

         25  Council Member. Council Member Melinda Katz, of
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          2  Queens.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you Mr.

          4  Chairman, and thank you for holding this important

          5  hearing.

          6                 I have to tell you that in my

          7  district, when it comes to the Department of

          8  Education, I can't tell you another topic outside of

          9  the curriculum, that I get more complaints about in

         10  my district than the school yards being closed.

         11  Especially on the weekends, people like going to the

         12  weekends, it's closed.  And they can't get there in

         13  the Summertime.  And I guess I have a few ideas,

         14  maybe.  I mean, I don't know if  --  I'm sure

         15  everybody has thought of these ideas, but I think

         16  that the Administration needs to know that it's a

         17  priority to us.  And I appreciate the fact that the

         18  representative of the Department of Education is not

         19  maybe the decision maker here, but I am hoping that

         20  with your strong advocacy and this Committee, that

         21  he goes back to his bosses and tells them,

         22  especially the Chancellor, how important this is for

         23  the Council. Because I am making an assumption, Mr.

         24  Chair, that if they don't do something, we can maybe

         25  do it legislatively, or talk about that. So I think
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          2  that I would like to have that discussion.

          3                 Now, there's a few issues here about

          4  the capital money.  I mean, I've had discussions

          5  with my principals too, and they say, well, the

          6  parks are sometimes injured or hurt during after

          7  school hours or on the weekends.  Is it possible  --

          8    why can't we put some money aside in our capital

          9  budget for repairs of schools for when things happen

         10  on the weekends or after schools? It can't be that

         11  expensive, considering how much money we've spent on

         12  school yards.

         13                 MR. SMARR: That would be an item

         14  that's open for discussion.  But again, the specific

         15  issue that I was talking about is and incident that

         16  happens over the weekend that cannot be rectified in

         17  time for Monday morning.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Oh, I

         19  understand.  No, I'm talking about in general.  I

         20  mean, I've had this discussion with my principals,

         21  and one of the things that keeps coming up is well,

         22  if the play equipment gets hurt, or it gets broken,

         23  or the asphalt gets ripped up, then you know, we

         24  don't have the money to fix it. And so one of my

         25  requests, I guess, from the Department of Education,
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          2  is if that's one of the problems, let's put some

          3  money aside in the Capital Budget every year to fix

          4  those things that happen on the weekends or after

          5  school.

          6                 The second issue is the closing of

          7  the parks, clearly.  I mean, I don't really

          8  understand what the problem is with the insurance

          9  and with the expense budget of fixing it.  We have

         10  things in the City of New York open all the time,

         11  and we manage to insure the places.  You know, our

         12  landmarks are insured. Our City parks are insured

         13  until dusk, I think it is, or something like that.

         14  Our you know, our band shells.  People use our band

         15  shells.  We don't close it down, even though we have

         16  performances coming up, and people clean it up

         17  beforehand.  So I guess that could be an added

         18  budgetary item.

         19                 Do you know how much money it would

         20   --  I mean, I don't know if that was asked already.

         21    How much money would it cost?  How much?  $44,000?

         22    How much money would it cost in order to do clean

         23  up and to maintain the playgrounds that are now

         24  closed for the year?  In the City of New York?

         25                 MR. SMARR: That is something we could
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          2  definitely provide the Committee.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Well with all

          4  due respect to you and your position, I mean it has

          5  to be something you thought about, because that's

          6  the whole point of the oversight hearing today.  I

          7  mean, we need to know.  Is it $20 million to

          8  maintain the parks if we kept them open till nine

          9  o'clock?  You know, is it you know, a few thousand

         10   --  you know, we need to know these answers before

         11  we say that it's not cost effective.

         12                 The last thing I'd like to say is

         13  about Take the Field.  Take the Field did a

         14  beautiful job on Forest Hills High School in my

         15  community.  But I want every one of my colleagues to

         16  know the trouble I had, which is that once we re-

         17  did the field, it was closed off to the public.  And

         18  with all due respect to the beautiful job that they

         19  did, I went to the Deputy Mayor, I went to the

         20  Chancellor, I went to the Department of Education,

         21  and I said, I'll be honest with you, it was almost

         22  better before.  I mean it wasn't better for my

         23  school.  I mean, it's a great asset for the school.

         24  And it's a great asset for the Little Leagues.  But

         25  before we did Take the Field, we were able to have

                                                            37

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  people running on the track and all that kind of

          3  stuff.

          4                 So I guess my question is  --  I'm

          5  sorry Mr. Chair --  is does the Department of

          6  Education  --  and we since negotiated for the Take

          7  the Field area to be open three hours a day to the

          8  community.  And I had to beg.  The question I have

          9  is, does the Department of Education have any

         10  arrangement with Take the Field regarding whether or

         11  not the public can have access or has to have access

         12  after they fix the fields?

         13                 MR. SMARR: The answer is yes.  In

         14  fact, it's prescribed in the legal agreement between

         15  the Department and the nonprofit and each school

         16  that agrees to host one of these projects.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: And how much

         18  time is that?

         19                 MR. SMARR: Again, I can get you the

         20  actual agreement, and which will clearly state what

         21  each requirement is. But it's an important  --  I

         22  mean, excuse me.  I hear that my colleague, Eric

         23  Goldstein has more specific information about the

         24  community use requirement.  But I just want to make

         25  clear that every Take the Field project has a
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          2  discreet and enforceable community use requirement.

          3  Because obviously  --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Well first of

          5  all, you should know that my principal said,  --

          6  first of all, the Department of Education itself,

          7  including the Chancellor and the Deputy Mayor, I had

          8  to negotiate for the three hours a day.  So if it

          9  was in the agreement, nobody mentioned that, number

         10  one.  And number two, apparently this agreement only

         11  takes hold when the leagues are not using it.  So I

         12  was told that it's a league  --

         13                 MR. SMARR: That's true, but our  --

         14  the Take the Field projects are for organized

         15  athletic play, not passive recreation.  And I mean,

         16  that is really the crux of the conflict here, is

         17  communities want to use these astro turf fields for

         18  passive recreation, which  they're not really

         19  appropriate for, and organized athletic teams are

         20  wanting to use them for soccer leagues, Little

         21  Leagues.  And you know, we just have to arrive at a

         22   --  I guess a more understandable medium about what

         23  these fields are used for.  But these fields are

         24  definitely being used by the community, albeit for

         25  organized athletic play.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Right.  But

          3  again, you know, three hours a day allowing access

          4  to a community that was used to having you know, the

          5  only park in the vicinity to be able to run in and

          6  play with their kids, was a very disturbing result

          7  of it.  So I would just   --  I wanted my colleagues

          8  to know the trouble I had, so when they come in and

          9  do the fields in your community, that you can have

         10  the discussions with the principal and with the

         11  organization beforehand.

         12                 But I would love to see the agreement

         13  on the community.  I would love to know whether or

         14  not the three hours a day is less than I'm supposed

         15  to be having for the rest of my community.  And I'd

         16  also like to know that when the leagues are using

         17  it, so that those three hours a day are interrupted,

         18  whether it's the school's responsibility to add

         19  hours at other times.  For the community to have

         20  access.  And I thank you Mr. Chair for your

         21  indulgence.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.  Just

         23  to stay on that topic one second.  The leases

         24  regarding these Take the Field, as far as the time

         25  that's allocated for community use  --  and I heard
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          2  you say that the astro turf was mainly for organized

          3  athletic programs and what have you.  Is there a

          4  standard period of time in each lease?  Or each one

          5  is different, it varies?  Do you know?

          6                 You can have him come up.  You can

          7  have him come up and give  -- since you know, he may

          8  have more knowledge at this. Just introduce yourself

          9  sir.

         10                 MR. GOLDSTEIN: Yes, hi.  I'm Eric

         11  Goldstein, Deputy Chief Executive for School and

         12  Sport Services at the DOE.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         14                 MR. GOLDSTEIN: The general legal

         15  agreement with Take the Field is not particular to

         16  each particular site in the sense of what it

         17  prescribes for the opening of the fields.  It's just

         18  generally, the fields have to have a component of

         19  community use. And essentially, the way it works is

         20  to access the fields, groups --  there could be

         21  groups of organized sports, or it could be groups

         22  for recreational time, what have you, applying

         23  through the school for a permit.  And a very

         24  important component of our agreement with Take the

         25  Field is that for groups that can demonstrate that
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          2  they don't have the funds to support the fees for

          3  the permits, those fees are waived.  And the way

          4  that process works is  --  and it's been working

          5  very well.  And you know, they deal with the Take

          6  the Field representative.  They say, we are a

          7  community group representing XY and Z for instance.

          8  We'd like to have the permit fee waived.  Take the

          9  Field then deals with the custodian and the

         10  principal and gets the fee waived.  A lot of

         11  instances, for instance, we say to the people of the

         12  community groups, okay, here are the keys for

         13  instance, of the field.  The conditions are that you

         14  leave the field as you find the field.  And

         15  generally, we found that that works very well.  And

         16  for instance, afterwards, depending on the group and

         17  the situation, they lock the door, and they leave

         18  the keys with the custodial staff, and that's how

         19  it's been working.  And largely, it's worked very

         20  very well. And we found in most instances that

         21  community use has worked fairly well.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Mr. Chair  --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Go ahead Council

         24  Member.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Can I have your
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          2  name?  Because we didn't know that.  So I want to be

          3  able to follow up with you.

          4                 MR. GOLDSTEIN: Right.  My name is

          5  Eric Goldstein.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I mean, like I

          7  said,  --  Mr. Chair, it's a great organization.

          8  It's doing a great service to the City of New York.

          9  And the leagues are utilizing it, at least in my

         10  district.  But I want to make sure that those that

         11  I'm helping fund the permits, because they can't

         12  afford it, maybe it's the opportunity to have it

         13  waived.  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you sir.

         15  Next we'll hear from Council Member Lou Fidler, of

         16  Brooklyn.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you Mr.

         18  Chairman, and again I want to thank you as well for

         19  holding this hearing on this important topic.  But

         20  at the risk of developing a reputation around here

         21  of being Contrary Mary, I just want to point out

         22  that this is not quite as simple as all that.  And

         23  my experience in terms of constituent complaints and

         24  school yards is the abuse of school yards after

         25  school hours, and the constant request to have NYPD
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          2  come and police the school yards after school hours.

          3    And just you know, simply standing here and saying

          4  we want our school yards opened, you know, omits a

          5  few very important considerations and questions.

          6                 In my part of Brooklyn, many of the

          7  schools are U shaped in design.  And the inside of

          8  the U in the school yard, has become a very discreet

          9  location for drug activity, illicit drinking, and in

         10  some communities, prostitution activities.  And they

         11  are the bane of the existence of NYPD, and that's

         12  why we get constant requests in my district office

         13  to make sure that the school yards aren't left open,

         14  and that when the fences are cut, that we find the

         15  funds, the never- ending stream of funds, it seems,

         16  to repair those fences.  So to simply tell DOE that

         17  we need the school yards open, without them

         18  providing the funding to them and a mechanism by

         19  which NYPD is involved as well, you know, for those

         20  schools that present particular security problems,

         21  you know, is just a little too simple.

         22                 And I am also kind of concerned about

         23  what happens in terms of this maintenance issue.

         24  Not in terms of asphalting ripped up, but in terms

         25  of what happens on Monday morning, when five and six
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          2  and seven year olds show up at the local public

          3  school to find a glass- strewn lot, because on

          4  Sunday night, teenagers were in that school yard,

          5  drinking and throwing beer bottles where they will?

          6  And you know, just to dismiss it and say that

          7  shouldn't happen, I think is just a little naive.

          8                 So I guess my first question for the

          9  witnesses is, under these JOP programs, who is doing

         10  the maintenance?  And when are they doing it?  And

         11  who comes by at what hour, to make sure that the

         12  park or the school yard was closed at an appropriate

         13  time? And that if someone abused that, the glass and

         14  perhaps the syringes that may got left, or that kind

         15  of stuff is removed before children show up on

         16  Monday morning?

         17                 MR. SMARR: At the jointly operated

         18  playgrounds, the Parks Department is responsible for

         19  the maintenance.  And again, that varies you know

         20  based on the nature of the facility.  In general,

         21  whether it's a fixed staff site or a site that's

         22  maintained by a mobile crew, our goal is to clean it

         23  at least once a day, and most places that either can

         24  be locked or need to be locked are locked at dusk

         25  each day.  There is a range of different I guess
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          2  maintenance approaches that we take based on the

          3  specific facility.  But we do maintain them on a

          4  daily basis, and we schedule  --  when there are

          5  mobile crews, we schedule them there as early as

          6  possible on the day before children arrive.  And our

          7  fixed post staff normally reports to the site at

          8  seven o'clock, well before children arrive.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: So on the

         10  mobile crews, there is a cleanup in the morning of

         11  the school yard before children arrive?

         12                 MR. SMARR: That's our goal.  I can't

         13  say that we're able to do that in every single

         14  location, but that is our general strategy.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Because I

         16  would point out that I'm sure in that $44,000

         17  figure, we have not yet computed the cost of the

         18  first lawsuit for what happens when a child shows up

         19  on a Monday morning, trips on a piece of broken

         20  glass and gets injured because you know, dare I say

         21  it, I'm a lawyer, and I know what's going to happen.

         22    And I know what the cost is going to be, if God

         23  forbid, that's a serious injury as well, not only to

         24  the child, but to the taxpayer.  So you know, it's

         25   --  I don't want to be overly simplistic and say
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          2  open them for God's sakes, there are nine Fort

          3  Greene's in Brooklyn.

          4                 And I'd also, just would like to

          5  point out that you know, a lot of people  --  you

          6  know, neighborhoods are different. And the schools

          7  are different.  And in some communities, people

          8  bought their homes next to school yards not

          9  expecting that they'd be open at certain times.  And

         10  certainly, I know we're not talking about leaving

         11  school yards open until midnight, but I do get phone

         12  calls first thing in the morning from constituents

         13  who are complaining about people playing ball at

         14  midnight in their you know, in school yards.  So

         15  there are a multiplicity of issues here, Mr.

         16  Chairman.  And what I would suggest is that the

         17  resolution that you know is attached to this

         18  oversight hearing is maybe a little overly

         19  simplistic.  And before I would be comfortable with

         20  it, I'd like to see us taking the responsibility for

         21  making sure that A, there's community input into the

         22  process by which we decide which school yards are in

         23  fact appropriate.  And second, that we step up to

         24  the plate and say that we will be responsible for

         25  funding the necessary maintenance that would be
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          2  required before we open one of these playgrounds to

          3  the public.  And recognizing that the goal of

          4  maximizing the number of playgrounds that are open

          5  for use by the entire community is a terrific one,

          6  provided we do it responsibly, and with public

          7  input, and by putting the dollars behind it to make

          8  sure the maintenance is exactly what it should be,

          9  lest we create a new problem.

         10                 And so, again, I appreciate you know,

         11  this hearing, and would ask that you know, we look

         12  at the resolution in that light.  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You're welcome.

         14  I think that's in vain of this entire hearing.

         15  Obviously, I don't know if you were here when I said

         16  that I'm not pointing the finger solely at DOE.  I

         17  think that we, as a City, the Mayor, the Executive,

         18  and we at the City Council, all of us, have an

         19  obligation to ensure that our children and people

         20  have access to this.  And as part of a normal

         21  process as far as budget, it should be in the

         22  Executive Budget.  It should be allocated for that.

         23  And in fact,  --  so I hear you loud and clear.  And

         24  I know it's not as simple answer. But the bottom

         25  line is, that too many park playgrounds are locked
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          2  out from our communities.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And Mr.

          4  Chairman, I agree with that.  I just  --  the

          5  resolution that is attached to this hearing doesn't

          6  say that.  And so that's kind of the point I'm

          7  making you know, in part, and I know that I'm

          8  willing as a Council Member, to be part of the

          9  process that comes to a determination as to both

         10  process and funding.  You know, we are all aware of

         11  the burdens that principals come to us and talk to

         12  us about the custodians contract, and the

         13  limitations that if we were going to have custodial

         14  maintenance as opposed to Parks maintenance.  And

         15  then we also know how incredibly strapped the Parks

         16  Department budget is.  So I mean, I'm not big on us

         17  providing an unfunded mandate.  So I think we need

         18  to step to the plate with the Administration, and

         19  find the dollars.  And I don't want to be asking a

         20  principal of a school, who has you know, the school

         21  based budgeting.  I don't want them to have to

         22  choose between having you know, a science program

         23  and cleaning the glass out of the school yard you

         24  know.  That's a choice that we shouldn't be putting

         25  on the principal, and it's up  --  it's incumbent
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          2  upon us to provide the dollars.  And with the Mayor.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I agree with

          4  you.  No principal should have to make that

          5  particular choice.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you Mr.

          7  Chairman.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And next we'll

          9  hear from Council Member Miguel Martinez, of

         10  Manhattan.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you

         12  Mr. Chair.  I mean, it is sad to hear that when a

         13  scenario in a school yard, where we have

         14  prostitution and we have broken glass, and we have

         15  all these scenarios.  And the fact is that when you

         16  have isolated communities, because we use the term

         17  too loosely, and the Department of Education uses

         18  the term too loosely, when they talk about

         19   "community".  If you were in fact, part of a

         20  community, you don't close yourself out to that

         21  community.  So when you have a community that

         22  doesn't feel part of, you're going to have these

         23  incidents.  You're going to have these issues.

         24                 And I think that you know, we need to

         25  take a closer look at not just saying as a whole,
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          2  but shame on you, the Department of Ed, if we have a

          3  school yard where we have prostitution.  Shame on

          4  you, the Department of Ed if we have a school yard

          5  where there's drug activities.  And shame on you,

          6  Department of Ed if our kids do not have access and

          7  the community does not have access to these yards.

          8  Because they don't feel part of that community.  So

          9  when you speak about school community, are you an

         10  isolated community?  Or are you a part of that

         11  immediate surrounding community that feels

         12  comfortable and care for that school yard, so that

         13  these incidents and these   --  excuse me  -- do not

         14  occur and our children feel safe to go in there and

         15  play basketball.  I think that you know, we should

         16  look at closely, you know, all these school yards

         17  that we have that are closed.  We should look at how

         18  do we improve the condition of these school yards,

         19  by making the community comfortable in taking

         20  ownership of these school yards.

         21                 That's the key word.  Ownership.  A

         22  community feeling ownership of these yards, to avoid

         23  these incidents that Council Member Lou just

         24  described that unfortunately it's sad to hear.  That

         25  that's taking place in the City of New York at this
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          2  time.

          3                 I want to go back to the Take the

          4  Field.  So for example, you mentioned George

          5  Washington High School, and they've done a great

          6  job, and I'm glad you brought up the information, in

          7  terms of community having access to the yard.  But

          8  unfortunately, you know, what I had noticed, and

          9  many of the complaints that I've gotten from my

         10  immediate community, and not having access to the

         11  field is that not only do you limit to organized

         12  teams and sports activity, but you also increase the

         13  amount of security around these fields.  Is there a

         14  particular reason why we have more security in these

         15  particular fields than other fields?

         16                 MR. SMARR: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: As part of

         18  your contract, is the Board of Ed required to

         19  increase the manpower to secure these fields?

         20                 MR. GOLDSTEIN: Mr.  --  Council

         21  Member Martinez, I'm not sure exactly  --  for in

         22  terms of the extra security that goes on to the

         23  fields, that perhaps is  --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: No, they're

         25  not in the school.  School Safety Officers are
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          2  placed, and they have a station.  And I would say

          3  three to four, and it looks like sort of like a

          4  little dispatch center there.  But not inside the

          5  school building.  Specifically for the field, you

          6  have additional officers.

          7                 MR. GOLDSTEIN: I'm not familiar with

          8  the specifics of that particular arrangement.  So I

          9  wouldn't be able to comment on that particular

         10  arrangement.  I'm sure the DOE can particularly look

         11  into that and respond to you on that.  But just

         12  getting back to the field at George Washington.

         13  Obviously, the general idea about the permits exist.

         14    Community groups can request a permit through the

         15  school principal.  If the community groups are

         16  unable to afford the permit, and there's an

         17  opportunity to have those permits waved, and have

         18  the fields accessible, we're very proud of the field

         19  at George Washington in particular.  Originally, we

         20  put down a grass field, so that you know, at the

         21  request really of the school's baseball program.

         22  But considering the intense use the field has

         23  gotten, a request was made, and it was granted, to

         24  redo the field as all the other Take the Field

         25  fields, with the synthetic turf, which works really
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          2  well and has the ability to maintain that freshness,

          3  year after year after year.  That program, as Mr.

          4  Smarr commented, should be finished in about

          5  December.  So come Springtime, it will be a brand

          6  new field, and we hope and we know that the school

          7  has a lot of program use for it.  And when school is

          8  not in session, certainly, the field is available

          9  for  --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: No, I

         11  understand that.  But in general terms for example,

         12  what is your definition of an organized group?  In

         13  other words, do I have to be incorporated? Let's say

         14  I have a tenant association, a block association

         15  that used to go jogging around the track, and you

         16  know, we're not incorporated.  We're not a

         17  nonprofit.  But we're organized.

         18                 MR. SMARR: It can be all those

         19  things.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: So there's

         21  no specific you know, incorporation needed and so

         22  forth.  And we're organized you know, in an informal

         23  way, we could go to the principal and ask for a

         24  permit so that say our Sunday Jogging Club.

         25                 MR. SMARR: That's correct.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Good.  And

          3  that information is not widely known out there.

          4  Thank you.  Thank you Mr. Chair.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You're welcome.

          6  Council Member David Yassky, of Brooklyn.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you very

          8  much.

          9                 I have a couple of questions, but

         10  just at the outset, I'll say, I mean, I definitely

         11  share the concerns that I've heard from Council

         12  Member Katz and Council Member Brewer, I believe,

         13  that you know, I've had in at least a couple of

         14  places in my district, continuing issues with

         15  constituents who would like to be able to enjoy the

         16  school yard or the playground, and don't understand

         17  why it's closed.  On the other hand, I will say I

         18  have also had issues like those raised by Council

         19  Member Fidler, one school in particular, that

         20  there's been  --  and it's not even because it's you

         21  know so troubling as gang and drug activity, as it

         22  is that it's noisy.  It's left the school yard in

         23  you know, messy, and then you know, littered, and so

         24  forth.  And there was one  -- there was an issue

         25  with people bringing dogs in and not cleaning up
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          2  after their dogs, and you know, so we had the

          3  neighbors saying  -- rather the parents saying we

          4  don't want the neighbors to use schools, the school

          5  yard.  So I think that there is you know  -- there

          6  are issues of  --  that will be different, place by

          7  place. And that  --  so I'm kind of wondering maybe

          8  why isn't the principal the right person to make

          9  that decision, given the principal you know, is

         10  typically, or in the best case, will be involved

         11  with the local neighborhood?

         12                 Here's my question though.  Is it  --

         13  is there budgetary impact to that principal from

         14  opening the school yard? In other words, if the

         15  principal says yes.  We're going to keep the school,

         16  you know, the play  --  it's okay by me if the

         17  playground is open till you know, dusk.  Or in the

         18   --  or even over the weekend.  How does that then

         19  figure budgetarily?   Does the principal have to pay

         20  extra for that?

         21                 MR. SMARR: Well yes.  Under the

         22  present system, they would be scheduling their

         23  custodians for more maintenance hours. So that would

         24  be an impact.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay.  Well
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          2  that I think is a problem.  In other words, no  --

          3  I think very few principals  -- now I understand.

          4  Very few principals will say, we'll make that

          5  decision over you know, an art teacher or over the

          6  other uses for that money.  I mean, I think that

          7  really should be a  --  I think that should be for a

          8  separate budgetary place than you know, what goes on

          9  in the school.  And it's really you know, that's not

         10  a tradeoff  --  the principal should be making the

         11  tradeoff between you know, the whatever, the art

         12  teacher and the you know, reading instructor.  Okay.

         13    That's a fair tradeoff to ask the principal to

         14  make.  Between the what goes on in the classroom and

         15  what serves the neighbors, that's not really the

         16  place the principal to make, it seems to me.  So I

         17  wouldn't put that decision on the principal. Is that

         18  fair?

         19                 Well agreeing it's fair and doing it,

         20  I guess are two separate things.  But  --  and then

         21  here's   --  is it a  -- how does it work if you

         22  want to keep it open but not at night?  I mean, and

         23  again, I think some of the issues Council Member

         24  Fidler are raising, I mean it's one thing to have

         25  the school yard open until you know, seven pm.  And
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          2  on the weekends during the day. It's another thing

          3  to be  --  have it be open at you know, ten pm, so

          4  that teenagers can get in.  What's the  --  are

          5  there places where it's open on  --  where you're

          6  able to make that distinction?

          7                 MR. SMARR: Well currently, all of

          8  these playgrounds are open until dusk currently.  So

          9  I mean, this is  --  we're really talking about a

         10  discreet period of time that you know, a couple of

         11  hours  --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay, so we're

         13  talking about after dusk and then weekend days.

         14                 MR. SMARR: --  And then Summer days

         15  and evenings. Summer evening hours.  So that's the

         16  sort of quantum of what we are discussing here.

         17  Even during the Summer, even when schools are

         18  closed, the playgrounds are open until dusk.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: So even during

         20  the Summer, we're talking about the post- dusk and

         21  weekend hours.

         22                 MR. SMARR: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And is there

         24   --  what's the --  I think somebody else asked

         25  this, but I'm not sure if I heard an answer.  What's
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          2  the cost to system wide, allowing for them to be

          3  open?  You know, assuming that every one is open on

          4  the weekends, --  I don't think after  --  to me, I

          5  don't think that there's  -  I don't think there

          6  would be  --  I wouldn't push for after dusk.  But

          7  on the weekends, until you know, until the daylight

          8  hours, what's  --  is there  --  what's the system

          9  wide cost for that?

         10                 MR. SMARR: That's something we're

         11  going to provide to the Committee, because  --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Yes, please

         13  do. And I mean, I think you know, you start from

         14  there, and then if there are issues specific to the

         15  community where people feel like it's actually

         16  better off having it closed, you can make that place

         17  by place.  But I think the assumption should be

         18  these are you know, rare  --  you know, these are

         19  opportunities for public space in a City where it is

         20  starved for that.  I think the assumption should be

         21  that we want to make that available on the weekends.

         22    Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you

         24  Council Member Yassky.  We hear from Council Member

         25  Fidler  --  Felder, I'm sorry, of Brooklyn, and then
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          2  Council Member Gale Brewer.

          3                 I'm sorry.  Before you began (sic)

          4  Council Member, let me just acknowledge also the

          5  presence of Committee Members Peter Vallone Jr., of

          6  Queens; and Jim Vacca, of the Bronx.  They're in

          7  front of us.  Council Member Felder.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you

          9  Chair Jackson.  And Chair Brewer for holding this

         10  hearing.  I just want to clarify something.  Number

         11  one, the issue that my colleague Council Member

         12  Fidler raised.  To me, it seems like there are two

         13  separate issues really, that have some relationship,

         14  that are going on here.  One has to do with the

         15  responsibility of the Department of Education to

         16  make sure that the gates are closed when they're

         17  supposed to be. Period.  Now, whether there was any

         18  resolution or not, assuming there was no such

         19  resolution, and we had no hearing today of this

         20  sort, the question is, what the obligation, and the

         21  responsibility of the Department of Education is,

         22  and how they are doing with regard to keeping the

         23  yards closed.  And I would say to you, only from my

         24  own experiences in my district, it's atrocious.

         25  It's atrocious.  I'll say it another ten times if it
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          2  makes a difference. But it's atrocious.  And the

          3  glass that has been spoken about and the

          4  prostitution depends on the public school and people

          5  know where to go.  They don't have to advertise.

          6  And drugs.  All of those problems exist now in many

          7  of the public schools.  And it's not a big deal.

          8  Even as a young boy, I was not in shape, as Chair

          9  Jackson, to climb the fence, but to snip it, no big

         10  deal.  Tell you, snipping it is no big deal.  And

         11  the only way you  stop that is the way you stop

         12  graffiti.  The day after they paint it, you paint it

         13  over.  The day they paint it again, you paint it

         14  over. And finally, they get tired.  That's not

         15  what's happening in the public schools in my

         16  district.  And I would assume that's the case

         17  anywhere.

         18                 So in essence, the schools are open

         19  24 hours a day. Maybe the superintendent goes to the

         20  gate, closes it and locks it. You know, there's a

         21  locking ritual, I'll call it.  But the gate is open.

         22    I mean, look in the school yards.  So I would just

         23  ask the Chair and the Council to the Committee if we

         24  can review that separately.  Because there's an

         25  issue of public safety.  And the issues that were
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          2  raised by my colleagues.  And forgetting about this

          3  new issue about getting parks and use of the public

          4  school yards.  So that's issue number one.  And if

          5  anyone from the Department of Education would like

          6  to take a tour with me  --  I always like bringing

          7  people into the neighborhood  --  I'll be happy to

          8  bring you.  You can pick the public school randomly.

          9    Any one you want.  And I'm telling you it will be

         10  the way I say it. That's what's going on.  And that

         11  is a big problem.  Very big problem.  I think all

         12  over the City.

         13                 Separate from that,  --  so that's

         14  issue number one. That was not a question, that was

         15  a statement.  And I'm not giving you an opportunity

         16  to debate it, because it's a fact.  It's like today

         17  is Tuesday, October third.  There's nothing that you

         18  could say that could change my mind.  Okay?   So

         19  that's issue number one.

         20                 Issue number two has to do with the

         21  opportunity that we have to take some of the space

         22   --   you know, New York City space is very, very,

         23  very expensive.  Thank God things have improved.

         24  You know.  Things are really wonderful on the whole.

         25    So the question is the priorities.  You know, I

                                                            62

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  don't hear that from you.  And I'm not sure it's

          3  your responsibility to say that.  But the issue is

          4  the priorities for the children.  You know, we go

          5  through different committees, and each committee  --

          6    there's the you know, there's Public Safety, and

          7  these, you know, we talk about housing.  And we talk

          8  about the fact that so many arts and sciences

          9  program that the Department is trying to restore,

         10  but a lot of those programs still don't exist.  And

         11  if children don't have a chance to play outside,

         12  whether it's during school hours or after, they're

         13  doing something else.  And I don't know what they're

         14  doing, but if they're playing in a school yard, it's

         15  a lot better.

         16                 So let me just say, the issue  --

         17  and I'm not going to lead you.  I'm not an attorney.

         18    I don't know how to do that. I'll ask Lou later on

         19  how you do that.  You lead somebody and then you

         20  like pounce on them when you got them.  Okay?  I'm

         21  just making a  --  To me, there's no question that

         22  using the space that exists in the back of the

         23  public schools for multiple uses besides laying

         24  empty, is a good thing.  If we have the money.

         25                 So there's this whole shtick, all
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          2  right?  This is the game that goes on.  During

          3  budget season, the people, the wonderful, really

          4  people, New Yorkers for Parks, they go around and

          5  they embarrass all the Council Members into funding

          6  parks, which is a good thing.  Really.  They do

          7  wonderful jobs.  We spend millions of dollars

          8  funding parks.  But I think that the City has an

          9  obligation.  That's what we're talking about.  The

         10  City has the land and we have an opportunity to take

         11  that land that is really can be used during the day

         12  for the children in the public school and off hours,

         13  in a safe way, if we can work it out, as Councilman

         14  Fidler said, we have to figure out the security

         15  issues.

         16                 I don't understand the hang up.  You

         17  know what I mean?  If you said to us, we agree

         18  whole- heartedly.  And I'll allow you to say that if

         19  you want.  I agree whole- heartedly, but we have to

         20  resolve the issues of insurance, issues of security,

         21  and once we get those things resolved, we're on

         22  board 100 percent.  And again, you can say that when

         23  I finish.  If you want.

         24                 That's what we're talking about.  You

         25  know, everything has risk.  Close the playgrounds
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          2  because there are issues of security and maybe

          3  there's going to be a broken bottle, and there

          4  sometimes is.  Despite the wonderful job that Parks

          5  Department does.  They do not have people on the

          6  parks 24 hours a day, waiting to catch a bottle

          7  breaker.  They can't do it.  You can't walk the

          8  streets.  Close down the streets in the City because

          9  somebody may fall.  And then the City will be sued.

         10  You know, forget about the actual streets with the

         11  potholes.  We have to close down for traffic

         12  entirely.  Because cars  --  there may be a pothole.

         13    A car will go into it, and somebody will not be

         14  there at that moment, and that will be the end of

         15  the world.  You know, I don't get it.

         16                 The issue today, at this hearing, I

         17  think, is to get a commitment from the

         18  Administration, and particularly the Department of

         19  Education, because the Parks Department is sitting

         20  here  --  I'm going to make a little trouble.

         21  They're ready to grab it.  They're not going to say

         22  it, okay?  I'm not going to do one of these things,

         23  ask him would you like to take care of it if they

         24  have the money.  They're ready to grab it.  That's

         25  not the issue.  The Department of Education has to
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          2  make a decision whether they want to take into

          3  effect  --  take into consideration that we, in the

          4  City Council, I think, to a great degree, have come

          5  up with money, capital funding for different things,

          6  whatever it is.  For example, computers.  Many of my

          7  colleagues spend our capital money, our pork barrel,

          8  and we use it to help public schools because they

          9  don't have enough computers.   Okay?  Why are we

         10  spending a half million dollars from our

         11  discretionary money for the public schools?  Because

         12  we're committed to making sure that the public

         13  school kids get what they deserve.

         14                 This is beans.  I mean, that's all it

         15  is.  In Yiddish, it's bupkis (phonetic).  It's

         16  beans.  To allow them to be able to use property for

         17  multiple purposes.  If the don't want to use the

         18  property  --  I've said it many times  --  we'll

         19  close it down.   We'll sell it.   We'll build

         20  housing.  Well build you know, housing.  We'll take

         21  all the money, give it to the Department of

         22  Education so they could use it for whatever they

         23  want.  And Parks will figure out the kids will play

         24  on the roofs.  You know, without a gate or whatever

         25  else.  And that will be it.

                                                            66

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2                 If that's not what you're saying, the

          3  space is available, then I would like you to say

          4  that I am committed to doing everything I can to

          5  making this work, as long as we can work out the

          6  issues regarding security, and regarding any other

          7  costs that are involved.  And I think that's an easy

          8  thing.  That was a question.  Or a statement.

          9                 MR. SMARR: I can just repeat what I

         10  said before. They are  --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Don't repeat

         12  it.  Don't repeat it.  Please don't repeat it.

         13                 MR. SMARR: There is a  --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Excuse me.

         15  No, I don't want to hear what you said.  This is the

         16  way it works.  I told some other committee.  I raise

         17  money.  I campaign.  I get elected.  I have the

         18  right to ask the questions.  You don't have the

         19  right yet. God willing, if you want to suffer,

         20  you'll become a Council Member and you'll ask the

         21  questions.  I asked you  --  if you don't want to

         22  say that, just say I can't say that.  That's all.

         23  It's not a -  this is not a long story.

         24                 MR. SMARR: I just want to  --  but I

         25  think I previously, in my presentation, I did say
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          2  that there's an obviously a need for an

          3  infrastructure around that.  We've already entered

          4  into discussions with Parks about what you're

          5  talking about.  We're not ready at this time to

          6  elaborate on anything, but we have been having

          7  conversations about developing that infrastructure

          8  that will support schools being able to open their

          9  play spaces.  And we will be discussing it in the

         10  future.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: All right.  So

         12  does that mean yes to what I asked you?

         13                 MR. SMARR: It means what I just said.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Oh, okay.  So

         15  it means you're not answering the question.  That's

         16  okay.  You don't have to.  It's fine.  Chair

         17  Jackson, I just want to thank you again for this

         18  hearing.  But I do think we need a lot more time for

         19  the first issue, about generally about how the

         20  Department of Education is or is not, in my opinion,

         21  living up to keeping the school yards closed as they

         22  say it.  They say they're closing them, and they're

         23  not closing them when they're supposed to be closed.

         24    They're only closed when no one can use them, you

         25  know, in the regular times during the day.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

          3  Let's hear from Council Member Jim Vacca.  And then

          4  we will hear from Council Member Gale Brewer.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Thank you.

          6  Very briefly, I think what you have to do here at

          7  DOE is come up with a school by school plan.  From

          8  my experience, we have some schools with portables.

          9  We have some schools with playgrounds.  We have some

         10  schools that are hidden from public view.  They're

         11  not on main thoroughfares.  They're not facing

         12  sidewalks.  They're in the rear of buildings.  I

         13  really think that what we need to do is have

         14  consultation with the custodian, with the principal

         15  with the parents.  Maybe with the community boards.

         16  There's got to be a school by school analysis.

         17                 You have many school yards in the

         18  City that are in need of capital repair.  What do we

         19  do in those cases?  I would like to see, of course,

         20  every piece of City property used for the

         21  communities' benefit, but I'm aware that there are

         22  issues.  I'm aware that we have to be sensitive to

         23  the safety of our kids, and the protection of our

         24  facilities.  So I leave you in that vein, and I hope

         25  that you will come back to us.  But just thinking of
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          2  my own district, I know that a uniform policy of

          3  saying that every school yard will be open until

          4  such and such a time, that type of blanket policy is

          5  not going to work in my district, knowing the

          6  configuration of my schools, the mini schools, the

          7  additions, the geographic locations of school yards.

          8                 So I hope that you'll come back to us

          9  with a plan. And I would like to be consulted as

         10  well.  Thank you.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         12  much.  I want to add  --  I think I've said that in

         13  my opening remarks, to pick up on Council Member

         14  Fidler's comments, that it is slightly complicated.

         15  But what we need is a --  and we can certainly add

         16  to the resolution, words that say that the Police

         17  Department safety issues, community board issues,

         18  just like many of us have served on the community

         19  board for many years.  I feel very strongly about

         20  their input.  But what we need is a Citywide policy

         21  so that it is not up to every single principal.  We

         22  need to say that Citywide, we will work with Parks,

         23  or whatever the process is, and Citywide, we're

         24  going to commit on a sustainable basis, the funding

         25  necessary, where appropriate, where security is
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          2  addressed, where the playground, as Council Member

          3  Vacca indicated, is presentable in terms of the

          4  quality.  That it will be open, and that there's a

          5  process for this.

          6                 The fact of the matter is that all of

          7  those issues can be addressed.  I guess because I'm

          8  in a community where six blocks apart, there are

          9  jointly operated and they are closed.  And the

         10  jointly operated are absolutely packed.  You can

         11  hardly get in them, in terms of their attendance.

         12  And in the morning, the school children use it, and

         13  they're clean.  So there is some example for those

         14  of us who have seen it.  And I think that what we're

         15  looking for is a continuation of those kinds of

         16  opportunities.

         17                 And then I also want to mention in

         18  terms of the permit issue.  I think it needs to be

         19  clarified.  There's a lot of non- understanding in

         20  terms of the fields.  What exactly the permit

         21  process is.  That really needs to be clarified to

         22  the Committee.

         23                 And I wanted to just mention in terms

         24  of the dusk. I'm sure we'll hear from the President

         25  of the custodial union, and principals and so on,
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          2  but in my neighborhood, the playgrounds are not open

          3  in the Summer.  They're not open until dusk.  And

          4  so, I don't know where they are, but that is not my

          5  experience.

          6                 So I just want to close my comments

          7  by thanking the Chair, and just state that I totally

          8  agree, security is an issue. But I know that when

          9  the jointly operated playgrounds take place, and

         10  exist, they're populated.  They're active.  And

         11  children are able to come into the school yard in

         12  the morning during school, and it is clean.  Thank

         13  you Mr. Chair.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you

         15  Council Member Brewer.  Let me just ask just one or

         16  two cleanup questions if you don't mind.  Concerning

         17  the approval of the permit process, it's my

         18  understanding, and you correct me if I'm wrong, that

         19  if someone wants to use the school yard for an

         20  activity, and if a permit is needed, they go to the

         21  principal, is that correct?  And the principal has

         22  the approval?

         23                 MR. SMARR: We were talking earlier,

         24  when we were talking about permits, about Take the

         25  Field, not about  --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay, let's

          3  say  --  right. Okay, let's say on  --  you're

          4  right.  We were talking about Take the Field.  Who

          5  has the say in whether or not it can be used?  Is

          6  that the principal?  Or is it the principal and Take

          7  the Field?  Or is the principal, Take the Field and

          8  the custodian?  Who has the say in that particular

          9  matter?  Can you walk me through this process?

         10                 Just identify yourself again for the

         11  record please.

         12                 MR. GOLDSTEIN: Yes, ultimately, it's

         13  up to the principal.  Take the Field, the role they

         14  play is helping organizations that can't afford the

         15  permit fees, through the process of having those

         16  permit fees waived.  But the principal makes the

         17  determination as to you know, the acceptability  --

         18  and I have to say, in our experience, really, I

         19  think very rarely is anything rejected.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So as far as

         21  waiving the fee, isn't waiving the fee the

         22  principal's, or DOE's decision to waive the fee?

         23                 MR. GOLDSTEIN: Ultimately yes.  But

         24  Take the Field helps community groups through that

         25  process.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So does the

          3  community group go to Take the Field first?  Or go

          4  to the principal first?

          5                 MR. GOLDSTEIN: Either one.  Probably

          6  the best place to start is the principal first.  And

          7  if they have trouble affording the fees, the

          8  principal will probably direct them, or the

          9  custodian direct them to the Take the Field folks

         10  who can help them through the process, if not handle

         11  it themselves.  But the first place to start is

         12  always with the principal.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  On that

         14  particular matter, Jim Vacca.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Very briefly,

         16  and I don't want to be mischievous, but I have to

         17  ask the question.  Are we  --  are you at the

         18  Department of Education, are you in your rights to

         19  promulgate rules and regulations concerning use of

         20  school yards when we have empowerment principals?

         21  What does the word "empowerment" mean relative to a

         22  principal being empowered to open and close a school

         23  yard at that person's discretion?  Or do you have

         24  policy- making authority still, in that regard?

         25                 MR. SMARR: Excuse me.  That is yet
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          2  another consideration that we have to take into

          3  account as we talk about developing an

          4  infrastructure to allow for greater use of school

          5  yards as recreational spaces.  But I believe we

          6  continue to maintain that authority over the

          7  facility.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: I'd like a

          9  definitive definition.  I think a lot of us are

         10  playing out this empowerment thing at this point.

         11  So this is a wait and see attitude.  But it just

         12  came to my mind that inherent in those empowerment

         13  powers would be this discussion.  So I just want to

         14  make sure that our discussion is not academic, and

         15  if you could clarify, I would appreciate it.

         16                 MR. SMARR: Absolutely.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Thank you sir.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Mr. Smarr, with

         19  respects to  -- you had indicated during your

         20  testimony, and in response to questions that have

         21  been put forward to you about the infrastructure,

         22  and that you are  --  meaning the DOE  --  is

         23  meeting with the Department of Parks and Recreation

         24  about the infrastructure.  How recent did you start

         25  those discussions?
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          2                 MR. SMARR: Those discussions have

          3  been taking place I believe since the Spring of this

          4  year.  So  --  and they are ongoing.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  And the

          6  expected outcome of those discussions, my

          7  understanding, and correct me if I'm wrong, would be

          8  to expand the number of joint operated parks in

          9  order to have more access for people from the

         10  community.  I would assume that's the expected

         11  outcome.  Is that correct?

         12                 MR. SMARR: We are not specifically

         13  discussing an expansion of the JOP program.  We are

         14  discussing a way to make school yards operate

         15  outside of dusk hours.  You know, weekends, during

         16  the Summer.  Certainly looking at the JOP as a

         17  possible model.  But again, we're just discussing

         18  the possibility and feasibility of making that

         19  happen.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: Council

         21  Member Jackson, if I might.  I think we all share

         22  the same goal.  The Department of Education and the

         23  Parks Department, and certainly the Administration,

         24  is to increase opportunities for active recreation

         25  for kids.  In the Parks Department, we have been
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          2  looking for, and successfully converting commercial

          3  and industrial space that isn't used for those

          4  purposes any more, in every borough, to active

          5  recreation.  We have created greenways that allow

          6  people to safe places to bike, run, skate, and

          7  connect them to larger parks.  In many cases, we've

          8  converted asphalt fields to artificial turf fields,

          9  to provide more opportunities for kids to play.

         10                 In his testimony, Mr. Smarr mentioned

         11  Take the Field, which has been discussed.  And

         12  that's been a tremendous success.  It really

         13  provided high- quality athletic fields for public

         14  school, athletically primarily, but other leagues

         15  throughout the City.  And it was started under the

         16  prior Administration, but it was continued during

         17  the Bloomberg Administration, and it's worked

         18  successfully, despite some kinks, I would say.

         19                 Another program that Mr. Smarr

         20  mentioned was the partnership with the Trust for

         21  Public Land, which has created new play spaces for

         22  public schools throughout the City.  And that's also

         23  a successful model.

         24                 The JOP model was you know, initiated

         25  back in the 1930s.  It had its real hay- day in the
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          2  1050s, when you had the population boom following

          3  World War II, and there were many schools built

          4  around the City.  But that may not be the best model

          5  going forward.  And you know, we have been

          6  discussing all of these issues that were raised

          7  today, on both sides, by Council Members;

          8  maintenance, security, capital investment in our

          9  discussions, but we have not decided on what the

         10  ultimate structure should be.  But I think we share

         11  the same goals, to provide more active recreation

         12  space for City kids.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Would the DOE

         14  and the Department of Parks and Recreation be

         15  amenable to  --  and I don't know if this is the

         16  case, but would it be amendable to have as part of

         17  that discussion, as far as the infrastructure, to

         18  include the Public Advocates Office, and/or the City

         19  Council in that particular matter?  Would you be

         20  amendable for that?

         21                 MR. SMARR: We're going to have to get

         22  back to you on that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: What about

         24  Parks?

         25                 MR. SMARR: We already are having
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          2  those.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON.  No.  I'm asking

          4  Parks.  You said you would have to get back to me on

          5  that, and I assume that you're representing the

          6  Department of Education in your response. But I'm

          7  asking if both of Parks and Recreation and DOE.  So

          8  would you be amenable, both of you,  --  and I

          9  believe, Mr. Smarr, you responded you would have to

         10  get back to us whether or not you are amendable to

         11  include the Public Advocates of the City of New

         12  York's Office in these discussions, and the City

         13  Council.  And I'm asking the Department of Parks and

         14  Recreation.  And whether or not they would be

         15  amendable to that, since they're part of the party

         16  also.               DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: We

         17  always anticipate involving both community at the

         18  local level, and elected officials in the ultimate

         19  program.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I'm talking

         21  about in the discussions that you're having as far

         22  as the infrastructure.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: I think

         24  at some point, yes, we will be involving the elected

         25  officials in those discussions.  We're not at a
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          2  point yet where we know which direction we think is

          3  the best, or the one that we would like to propose.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  Are you

          5  willing to have input from the Public Advocate and

          6  members of the public and from the City Council as

          7  to what is the best direction?  Rather than

          8  communicating, well this is what we feel is the best

          9  direction, and so now we're sharing it with you.

         10  And basically, you know, we want your feedback on

         11  it.  What about soliciting from us information as to

         12  what is the best direction?  That's a difference

         13  than you know, an after the fact, after you've had

         14  several meetings where you determine that this is

         15  the best direction, and the Public Advocates, Betsy

         16  Gotbaum, who came out with the report as far as

         17  space use, and Council Member Gale Brewer and her

         18  staff in the City Council, to have them involved in

         19  the beginning processes of this particular

         20  discussion, so that it is one that is comprehensive

         21  that is inclusive of all.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: I

         23  appreciate your point Council Member Jackson, and we

         24  will be looking for input from elected officials and

         25  the community.  We are still sort of trying to work
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          2  through very specific issues that have to do with

          3  contractual responsibilities, and long- term, you

          4  know, maintenance of investment in the facilities.

          5  But we will, of course, be  -- want the input of the

          6  elected officials in what is ultimately decided.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: No.  If in fact

          8  the public and/or the Public Advocates Office or the

          9  City Council wanted to give some input into you, who

         10  should they be communicating with? Or who should

         11  they address their suggestions to?  Of this

         12  infrastructure group that's meeting.

         13                 MR. SMARR: Certainly, you know, we

         14  would be happy to hear from any elected official

         15  about  --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Yes.  Who should

         17  they address it to?

         18                 MR. SMARR: To me.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: To you.  And at

         20  the Department of Education?

         21                 MR. SMARR: They can certainly send

         22  that input to our intergovernmental liaison, who is

         23  here with me today, Erin Stevens.            CHAIRPERSON

         24  JACKSON: And who heads up that infrastructure part

         25  of DOE?  As far as discussions with Parks and
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          2  Recreation?  Who is heading up that discussion?

          3                 MR. SMARR: I don't know if I would

          4  really describe it as anyone as a particular head of

          5  it.  We've been having several meetings, discussing

          6  them, and you know, I think the best way to get

          7  input to those meetings is through Erin.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Yes.  I

          9  understand the best way to, but I'm just asking who

         10  is heading that up?  I mean, do you know for

         11  example, is that you that's heading it up?  Is it

         12  this gentleman here?  Is it the Deputy Chancellor

         13  herself?

         14                 MR. SMARR: I've been attending all of

         15  those meetings.  --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: On behalf of the

         17  Department?

         18                 MR. SMARR: If that answers your

         19  question.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: On behalf of the

         21  Department?

         22                 MR. SMARR: Yes sir.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  So you've

         24  been attending.  So you're basically right now, and

         25  if you're attending those meetings, then you're the
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          2  point person as far as those infrastructure

          3  meetings.  Is that correct?  As far as  --  not to

          4  say that you are, that that's where correspondence

          5  should be sent to, but obviously, you were the point

          6  person for Department of Education at these

          7  infrastructure meetings.  Is that correct?

          8                 MR. SMARR: Yes sir.  I've been

          9  attending all of those  --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  All

         11  right.  I appreciate that.  Well I want to thank

         12  both of you for coming in and giving testimony.  And

         13  we appreciate it.  We look forward to working with

         14  you.  And if you can, or your staff, can respond to

         15  the questions and requests that we've put forward to

         16  you.  Thank you very much. Thank you.

         17                 And next, we're going to hear from

         18  Robert Troeller, the President of Local 891, the

         19  Custodians Union.  Mary Powell Thomas, from PS 38

         20  and District 15 Community Education Council. And

         21  Alyssa (sic) Farina, of New Yorkers for Parks.

         22  Would you please come forward?

         23                 Sergeant- of- Arms (sic) could you

         24  please place another chair there for them, if you

         25  don't mind.
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          2                 Thank you.  And welcome this

          3  afternoon.  It's almost afternoon.  It's 11:45.

          4  Let's begin with the order in which I called.

          5  Robert Troeller, Local 891.  Mary Powell Thomas,

          6  from PS 38, District 15 Community Education Council.

          7    And Allison Farina, New Yorkers for Parks.  Please

          8  begin.  Just identify yourself for the record.

          9                 MR. TROELLER: Good afternoon.  My

         10  name is Robert Troeller.  I'm President of IUOE

         11  Local 891.  I represent New York City's School

         12  Custodian Engineers.  Good afternoon, and thank you

         13  for having me here today.

         14                 Unfortunately, I only learned of the

         15  hearing late last week, and did not have time to

         16  make a prepared statement.  But I did agree to come

         17  here to answer questions.  And I do have a few

         18  comments about some of the statements I heard today

         19  from the Department of Education.

         20                 Number one, to leave the decision as

         21  to whether or not parks  --  the school yards should

         22  be opened or closed to the principals and leave that

         23  as the principal's choice is really a crock for a

         24  number of reasons.  It leaves the liability issues

         25  in the hands of the principals.  And it leaves the
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          2  community and the funding issues totally out of the

          3  picture, which are the two overriding issues.

          4                 I have members working around the

          5  entire City, and I hear both sides of the fence.  I

          6  hear what Councilman Fidler said, that many members

          7  of the community complain that the school yards are

          8  left open too much, and create a nuisance.  And I

          9  hear the opposite, that the school yards are not

         10  available for the community and the children to

         11  play.

         12                 Having grown up in New York City,

         13  across the street from the school yard, I can't

         14  imagine what my childhood memories would be if that

         15  school yard were locked up.  You know, me and all

         16  the kids in the school in the whole neighborhood,

         17  would have literally spent our lives on the street,

         18  had that yard been locked up.  We had the advantage

         19  of being able to play ball, and hang out in that

         20  school yard all the time.

         21                 But now, representing school

         22  custodians, I'm looking at the other side of the

         23  fence.  And I realize that when those yards were

         24  left open at inappropriate times, it creates a

         25  problem. When you arrive in the morning you know,
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          2  there are hazards to clean up.  Debris to clean up.

          3  And all of those things equate to money.           And

          4  one thing I didn't hear today from the Department of

          5  Education, while I did hear of them speaking about

          6  possibly adding capital money for needed capital

          7  repairs, or needed capital improvement, I didn't

          8  hear them talk about maintenance money.  Maintenance

          9  funding.  And that's where the problem really lies.

         10  Because when you show up in the morning and there's

         11  actually debris, that's not a capital project.

         12  That's an extra cleaner that you need to sweep up.

         13                 And while everyone is talking about

         14  added access, the Department is in the process of

         15  reducing custodial budgets. The Department announced

         16  to me just last week that they intend to remove $11

         17  million from the custodial's budget, and put those

         18  into the empowerment schools.  By doing so, they

         19  would make it less likely that school yards would be

         20  kept open.  Because if a principal decided to leave

         21  her school yard open for the children to play in the

         22  neighborhood, and she asked the custodian to do

         23  that, he would inform her, well I'm in the process

         24  of laying off one of my cleaners, and I'm going to

         25  have less people to clean.  So if you want me to
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          2  have someone on in the morning now, for additional

          3  hours, to clean up, do you want me to not clean the

          4  third floor? Or take out the garbage?

          5                 So I think the Department really has

          6  to look at the issue of increasing our maintenance

          7  budget, not decreasing.  This is the fourth time

          8  since 1997, that our custodial budgets have been

          9  reduced.  This cut will bring the total cut to  --

         10  what is it Matt?  --  $28 million.  Okay?  This $11

         11  million cut, if instituted, is the equivalent of  --

         12    okay  --  313 full positions throughout the school

         13  system.  So if the Department goes through with this

         14  $11 million cut, the members of my union will be

         15  forced to lay off the equivalent of 313 full- time

         16  cleaners throughout the schools.  This, in a time

         17  when there is no budget crisis.  There is no need to

         18  do this.  They want to take this money out of our

         19  budget and put it into the empowerment zones.

         20                 So I ask the Council top please do

         21  all they can to intercede and get in touch with the

         22  Department and urge them not to go forward with this

         23  budget cut.

         24                 But again, you know, our members are

         25  interested in working with the community.  With the
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          2  principals, on a school- by school basis, and see

          3  which schools can be kept open longer.  Which school

          4  yards, rather.  And which need to be locked up

          5  sooner.

          6                 As Mr. Vacca said, it is a school-

          7  by- school decision, but I don't think it should be

          8  left in the hands of the principal only.  And left

          9  as their responsibility.

         10                 I'll answer any questions.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.  Next

         12  we hear from Mary Powell Thomas, from PS 38,

         13  District 15, which is the Brooklyn Community

         14  Education Council.

         15                 MS. THOMAS: Hi.  I am here as a

         16  parent.  My children have attended PS 38 in

         17  Brooklyn.  And I was instrumental in getting a

         18  playground renovation three years ago, through the

         19  Trust for Public Land.  And this was before the

         20  Trust Pub Lands made its agreement with the

         21  Department of Education.  We were sort of a pioneer.

         22    And curiously enough, I just came this morning

         23  from a meeting at the school to discuss various

         24  issues that have arisen. Part of the deal is that

         25  the playground had to be open to the community after

                                                            88

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  school hours.  But there are a number of issues that

          3  have arisen this year, and every year basically,

          4  since the school yard was renovated.  And in fact,

          5  when I was making a flyer for the meeting this

          6  morning, I looked on my computer for previous flyers

          7  that I could use as a model, and I found one from

          8  June of 2004, and the issues were the same.  It was

          9  noise, it was littering, it was hours of operation,

         10  and it was also whether to allow bicycles in the

         11  playground.

         12                 But so I fully support the intention

         13  of the bill, of the resolution.  I think children

         14  need as much space to play in as possible.  However,

         15  I feel that if school yards are open, there's got to

         16  be money that comes with it.  There has got  --   as

         17  several people have noted, the maintenance issues

         18  are much greater.  There are trees now.  We never

         19  had trees.  Trees means branches get broken.  It

         20  means they need to be pruned.  I came in, I borrowed

         21  pruning equipment from my neighbor one day last

         22  Summer, and came in and trimmed all the trees.  But

         23  you know, they need it again now. There are more

         24  branches that are broken off.  There is a hugely

         25  increased amount of litter.  There are bricks around
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          2  the trees that have been pulled up, and then there's

          3  sand there.  Those need replacing.  All sorts of

          4  maintenance issues.

          5                 The cleaning is a big issue.  We

          6  realized this morning that the principals said, I'm

          7  happy to lock the playground when I leave on the

          8  week nights, on school nights, I'm here till six,

          9  sometimes seven, eight o'clock.  I have no problem

         10  closing the playground.  But on the weekends, the

         11  custodians are there from six am to eight am on

         12  Saturday.  That's it.  That's the only time they

         13  have funding for.  On Sunday, there's a church group

         14  that uses the school and pays for that, so the

         15  custodians are there from seven am till four pm.

         16  But once the playground is opened, how is it going

         17  to be closed?  And we actually were talking about

         18  trying to raise money in the community to pay

         19  somebody to close the playground on Saturday and

         20  Sunday evenings.

         21                 But if there were  --  you know, if

         22  it were jointly operated with the Parks Department,

         23  that would be great.  If it were you know  --  if

         24  the custodial budget was expanded to include enough

         25  money to  --  for the custodians to be there to
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          2  close it, that would be great.

          3                 Another problem we're having is rats.

          4    There's some construction in the neighborhood.

          5  And I think a lot of it has to do with that.  But

          6  also, I learned this morning that the custodian, the

          7  custodians empty the trash cans on the playgrounds

          8  in the morning.  Because they're not there in the

          9  evening.  So they come in at seven in the morning,

         10  they empty the trash cans.  Meanwhile trash cans are

         11  overflowing, and the rats are having a field day all

         12  night.  So we need a dumpster, because the

         13  Sanitation Department only comes by in the

         14  afternoon.  If they empty the trash in the evening,

         15  where are they going to put the garbage?  They can't

         16  put it inside the school building.  If they put it

         17  out on the sidewalk, the neighbors complain.  You

         18  know, so it's a many- layered problem, but a lot of

         19  it comes back to funding.

         20                 The other thing that I would strongly

         21  recommend is if the playgrounds are going to stay

         22  open in the evenings, that there be some sort of

         23  staffing to go along with it.  Because I think that

         24  you know, maybe it varies with the location, with

         25  the community, with the neighborhood, but in a lot
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          2  of cases, there are young people who need some help

          3  channeling their energy into constructive channels.

          4  I found  --  I've been a parent at this school for a

          5  long time, so I know a lot of the children there,

          6  and when I'm at the playground, if there's sort of a

          7  tense situation, I can often diffuse it just by

          8  going over and saying, you know, hey, what's going

          9  on.  Or whatever.  But you know, I'm not there all

         10  the time.  And if you want to have somebody who is

         11  there all the time, you have to pay them.

         12                 Also I notice in the news lately,

         13  there's a rise in juvenile crime.  So I think it is

         14  important for us to have wholesome opportunities for

         15  our young people.  I think they do need an adult

         16  presence.  Our kids are alone too much.  They get

         17  too much influence from their peer groups already,

         18  and I think you know, an older person to mentor

         19  appropriate behavior, clean language, that sort of

         20  thing, somebody who knows the kids, has some

         21  credibility with them, would be very helpful.

         22                 So that's again, I'm happy to answer

         23  questions also.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you very

         25  much.  And next we hear from Allison Farina, New
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          2  Yorkers for Parks.

          3                 MS. FARINA: Thank you and good

          4  afternoon Chairman and Committee Members.  My name

          5  is Allison Farina, and I'm Counsel and Director of

          6  Government Relations at New Yorkers for Parks, the

          7  only independent watchdog for all the City's parks,

          8  beaches, and playgrounds.

          9                 NY for P fully supports all measures

         10  the City can take to provide more access to play

         11  space for children in all five boroughs.  We've

         12  heard today that the jointly operated school yards

         13  are open during the evenings, on weekends, and

         14  during the Summertime, and that the Department of

         15  Education school yards, that represent so much more

         16  space, are not.  And Gale, you had said earlier,

         17  Council Member Brewer, that if all the locked school

         18  yards were open in New York City, they would provide

         19  an amazing amount of open space, greater than the

         20  space in Central Park.

         21                 Our children desperately need more

         22  space to play and recreate.  New York City falls

         23  below the recommended amount of open space per

         24  resident, in that 90 percent of low- income

         25  neighborhoods fail to provide a minimum of 2.5 acres
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          2  for 1,000 people.

          3                 In addition, New Yorkers for Parks

          4  has identified several priority districts that would

          5  greatly benefit from increased access to school

          6  yards.  By examining access to parkland, we found

          7  that the following Council Districts Citywide were

          8  the lowest performing vis- a- vis acreage devoted to

          9  parkland and number of kids per park: Flatbush,

         10  Council District 45; Bed- Stuy/Crown Heights,

         11  Council District 41; East New York, CD 37; Southeast

         12  Queens, 27; Borough Park, 44; and Jackson

         13  Heights/Elmhurst, Council District 25.

         14                 Other critical factors such as the

         15  growing challenge that obesity poses to this

         16  generation, and the ever- increasing projected

         17  population surge, should encourage the City to do

         18  everything necessary to open up more school yards

         19  for play.  The following neighborhoods have higher

         20  than average obesity rates, and too few parks for

         21  their children: Washington Heights,  Eastchester,

         22  Jamaica, Canarsie, and Fordham.  By ensuring that

         23  children have sufficient playgrounds, parks, and

         24  school yards in which to exercise and play, we are

         25  taking a step toward improving these disturbing
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          2  health trends.

          3                 In addition to the serious health

          4  concerns the City faces, according to the City

          5  Council, there are currently 8.2 million people

          6  living in the City of New York.  And that number is

          7  estimated to grow to 9.4 million over the next 20

          8  years.  This projected population growth already

          9  makes  --  excuse me, I'm sorry --  makes an already

         10  tough situation more desperate.  Giving young New

         11  Yorkers more opportunity to recreate, especially in

         12  the fair weather months, is a necessity, not a

         13  luxury.  Opening DOE playgrounds affords the chance

         14  to give more public space back to the public.

         15                 And New Yorkers for Parks has the

         16  following three recommendations: The City Council

         17  should convert resolution 134-A into an Intro, and

         18  pass the bill into law.  Two, the City should open

         19  DOE playgrounds even in some sort of phased- in way,

         20  if that's possible, especially in the fair- weather

         21  months, so that more children have a place to play.

         22  And finally  --  and this is important, because it

         23  addresses what we've been talking about. Everyone

         24  has been mentioning earlier, the City should fund

         25  full time staff positions to operate and secure
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          2  these spaces, with revenue generated by parkland

          3  concessions.

          4                 And we've been here before the

          5  Council many times over about this issue.  This is a

          6  source of revenue that could pay for a lot of what

          7  we've been discussing today.  Thank you very much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you all

          9  for coming in. Council Member Gale Brewer.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         11  much.  Mr. Troeller, from your experience on the

         12  jointly operated playgrounds, does that work?  Where

         13  sometimes you have a Department of Education

         14  playground right next to a jointly operated

         15  playground.  Are the playground  --  when your

         16  wonderful members come in Monday morning, are they

         17  fairly clean?  Is there a lot of effort to get them

         18  clean? I just want to know how that program works in

         19  your estimation.

         20                 MR. TROELLER: Yes, I think that often

         21  works, because the Parks Department has the

         22  maintenance staff dedicated you know, to cleaning

         23  those parks, and they can allocate their resources

         24  in such a way to send them into that park to get

         25  them cleaned up early, and send them to a different
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          2  park that may not be connected to a school a little

          3  later.  While the custodian of the school, he may

          4  have just one cleaner that comes in the morning who

          5  has to  -- or a fireman who has to start up the

          6  boiler, open up the school building, run outside,

          7  clean up the school yard.  And they you know, start

          8  taking care of the people who are coming into the

          9  building.  If the school yard is more of a mess, he

         10  would need additional staff, or keep that person

         11  outside longer.  And he couldn't attend to his other

         12  duties.

         13                 So while the Parks has dedicated

         14  staff just to cleaning the park, the custodian crew,

         15  we don't have that, you know.  With additional

         16  budget, we could put additional manpower on. So

         17  maybe a more expansion of that jointly operated

         18  program might be an answer.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.  Because

         20  I want to thank you for your comments.  I think from

         21  what you said that you are generally in favor, as

         22  long as the funding is there.  Is that correct?

         23                 MR. TROELLER: That is correct.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.  And I

         25  just want to emphasize, I feel very strongly that
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          2  funding is needed.  I feel that this is one of these

          3  issues that needs a sustainable, long term

          4  infrastructure- kind of budget.  Because I think

          5  that wonderful example you gave us for Trust for

          6  Public Land, that you know, people will complain

          7  about the noise, people will complain understandably

          8  about you know, rats or whatever it is, if there

          9  isn't a comprehensive plan.

         10                 So I just want to be clear, that what

         11  I'm talking about is almost a new way of looking at

         12  opportunities for open space.  But it has to be

         13  funded.  And it has to be thought out, in my

         14  opinion, per community board, so that there's a

         15  sense of what does and doesn't make sense per

         16  school.  What I don't want is exactly what Mr.

         17  Troeller said.  I don't want every principal to have

         18  to make that decision.  Because they really are then

         19  stuck with a problem that you know, could ensue, and

         20  it's not fair to put that on them.  I feel very

         21  strongly about that.

         22                 So I want funding.  I want

         23  sustainable and an infrastructure and a new way of

         24  looking at this open space.  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Council Member
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          2  Vacca, of the Bronx.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: I want to thank

          4  our witnesses for all of your testimony.  I think

          5  the key is funding as well. Without funding, we

          6  really can't go forth.  It was a little dismaying

          7  (sic) to hear that I think, Mr. Troeller, you used a

          8  figure of $14 million?

          9                 MR. TROELLER: It's just over $11

         10  million that they intend to take out this fiscal

         11  year.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: They intend to

         13  take $11 million from cleaning services  --

         14                 MR. TROELLER:  From our cleaning

         15  budget, yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: From throughout

         17  the system.

         18                 MR. TROELLER: Throughout the system.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  And it's going

         20  to go to the empowerment  --

         21                 MR. TROELLER: Correct.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Is that going

         23  to go to the central administration of the

         24  empowerment schools?  Or is that going to be given

         25  out to empowerment schools on a per capital basis?
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          2                 MR. TROELLER: This was all supposedly

          3  part of the administrative cut, and when it got to

          4  DSF, somehow, this became a portion of their

          5  administrative cut.  They took it right from the

          6  custodial budget.  So they're taking money from the

          7  schools, supposedly to put in the schools.  But

          8  they're taking it from all the schools to give to a

          9  few schools.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Well, that

         11  hurts the concept behind this hearing.

         12                 MR. TROELLER: It sure does.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Because we,

         14  going forward with I think it's over 1,200 schools,

         15  if we do anything on that basis, we need staff.  And

         16  I think that's taking us backwards.

         17                 I'm all for more money for every

         18  school.  But I have to tell you, I have visited many

         19  schools since I'm a Councilman, and the cleanliness

         20  has impressed me.  I've met with the custodians, and

         21  I'm impressed.  And I don't want to go backwards.

         22  And that seems to be a step backwards for us.

         23                 And I'm sorry that our Committee was

         24  not advised of that.  This is the first I've heard

         25  of it.
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          2                 MR. TROELLER: Well thank you.  My

          3  members continue to try to more with less and less,

          4  but I think we've really reached a breaking point.

          5  And if this cut goes through, you know, I think the

          6  public will begin to see you know, the severity of

          7  these cuts, and will begin to see a decrease in

          8  services in the schools.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: I'd like to

         10  suggest perhaps Mr. Chairman, if we could schedule a

         11  hearing at a certain point, on this issue.  It may

         12  be something that you would want to pursue.

         13                 And I want to thank Parks also.  You

         14  know, I agree in concept that all the concession

         15  money should be returned to the parks.  This is

         16  another proposals that takes us that way.

         17                 I do want to mention that looking at

         18  piloting  -- and I'm always one that believes that

         19  before we go Citywide, we may want to use pilots.

         20  The six communities you mentioned, may be where they

         21  have the lowest performing acreage, that may be

         22  something where we could work with Parks, DOE, Mr.

         23  Troeller yourself.  Perhaps we could pilot programs

         24  in those districts where children now have so little

         25  parkland space.  And if we can commit the staff, and

                                                            101

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  commit our determination, that may be something we

          3  can model, should there not be resources to do this

          4  on a wide scale plan.

          5                 I mean, speaking for my community,

          6  without staff and without resources, just opening up

          7  the school yards does not make much sense.  It's not

          8  going to be safe, and I'm not going to agree to

          9  something that's not safe.  Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         11  Council Member Yassky, of Brooklyn.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you.

         13  Very briefly, I just want to personally greet Mr.

         14  Troeller, who has been very helpful with the schools

         15  in our area.  And Mary Powell, who is one of my

         16  outstanding constituents.

         17                 At the school that you talked about,

         18  which of course, I'm familiar with, but I don't know

         19  the answer to this question, since the renovation,

         20  and when it's been  --  I only learned I guess

         21  earlier, that apparently it's policy for school

         22  yards to be open until dusk throughout the City.

         23  That's I think not the case.  I can tell you, there

         24  are other schools in my district where people want

         25  the schools to be open in the you know, after
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          2  school, and they're not.  They want to playgrounds

          3  to be open after school, and they're not.  So that

          4  policy is not largely, or not uniformly, certainly,

          5  implemented.

          6                 But at PS 38, has it cost the school

          7  more?  I mean, has money come out of the school's

          8  budget as a result of the playground being opened

          9  since the renovation?

         10                 MS. THOMAS: I do not know

         11  specifically.  I think what's happened is that the

         12  custodial personnel have had to be redeployed.  I

         13  know that at our meeting this morning, the custodian

         14  said that it was a three- day weekend.  A lot of

         15  trash built up. And one of his staff members spent

         16  four hours cleaning up trash this morning.

         17                 So it's not that there's money  --

         18  the custodial budget, I believe, is separate from

         19  the school budget.  Yes.  So if there may be other

         20  things in the school that are not being attended to

         21  as quickly, because people are out there on the

         22  playground.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I guess that

         24  right.  Since it's a separate budget  --  so a

         25  principal says, okay fine.  We're going to open it
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          2  on the weekend.  That doesn't come out of an art

          3  teacher, it comes out of elsewhere in the custodial

          4  budget?  Is that  --

          5                 MS. THOMAS: Maybe cleaning  --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Mr. Troeller,

          7  is that how that works?

          8                 MR. TROELLER: Yes.  If I may, one

          9  correction to something the Department said before.

         10  The budgets are separate and apart.  But, you know,

         11  if the principal were to request that the yard be

         12  kept open, then in effect, the principal would be

         13  saying, you know, clean up the school yard that's

         14  left a mess from being left open, and don't clean

         15  the third floor.  You know.  And obviously, the

         16  principal is not supposed to make that decision

         17  either.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I mean  --  so

         19  is it really up to the principal?  Or is it up to

         20  the custodian in the end?

         21                 MR. TROELLER: It's up to the

         22  custodian.  But I mean, the custodian has a limited

         23  budget and a limited staff.  So if the principal

         24  requests the custodian to do something, he or she is

         25  going to do that, but he has to cut back somewhere
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          2  else.  If he's going to provide additional services

          3  to the community, he's going to provide less

          4  services to the school.  I don't think that's a

          5  decision that the custodian or the principal should

          6  have to make. There should be additional resources

          7  to provide those additional services to the

          8  community.  I'm in favor of that, but there needs to

          9  be resources.  And now, the Department is in the

         10  process of cutting back the more funding that we

         11  have.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay.  Thank

         13  you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Council Member

         15  Vacca.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Just one thing

         17  I have to say. You know, when I was District Manager

         18  of the community board, before I came here, we got

         19  funding for portable classrooms.  And they're often

         20  in the back of school yards.  And when we had

         21  vandalism at night, we had these portables  --  you

         22  know, kids play ball.  But when you throw the ball

         23  strong enough, we saw dents in the transportable

         24  classrooms.  We call them cottages.  We didn't want

         25  children to think they were transportables or you
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          2  know, portables, whatever.  We called them cottages.

          3    And they were  -- balls made these dents like

          4  this.  They were graffitied (sic) at night.  So the

          5  custodians had to come out the next day.  You know,

          6  the theory with graffiti, get rid of it the next

          7  day, that will discourage the individuals doing it.

          8                 So all these issues of school yards

          9  open require lighting, supervision, staff,

         10  resources.  These things are key. And in the past,

         11  when there was vandalism, many schools went the

         12  other way.  Many schools locked up gates at a

         13  certain point.  They had increased security.

         14  Because we could not count on the police to be a 24-

         15  hour presence, and there was no one whose home may

         16  have fronted the school yard, who could call the

         17  police because they saw something.  And you found

         18  evidence the next morning often, of drug usage and

         19  things like that, that we don't want our children to

         20  see.

         21                 MS. THOMAS: And could I just say,

         22  someone before mentioned the issue of cutting the

         23  fence, and how important it is to repair it

         24  immediately.  And I would strongly support that,

         25  because one reason  --  our school yard is currently
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          2  open 24- hours a day, because if it gets closed, the

          3  fence gets cut.  You know. And also, the principal

          4  is concerned that somebody may climb the fence and

          5  get hurt.

          6                 But I think if it could be closed and

          7  there could be a commitment to repair the fence

          8  immediately if it did get cut, I think that would

          9  make a big difference.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         11  Council Member Felder, of Brooklyn.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you very

         13  much.  And I apologize for going out in the middle.

         14  We had another Committee hearing.

         15                 I just wanted to mention that the

         16  graph  --  I shouldn't say the graph  --  the sheet

         17  that was prepared by New Yorkers for Parks, everyone

         18  here got it, highlights the fact that my district,

         19  was 51.  I think that's last.  Or first.  However

         20  you want to  --  but 9,379 children, with only five

         21  parks.  So the issue that Councilman Vacca raised,

         22  others raised earlier, about the securative courses,

         23  is paramount.  But on the other hand, it's clear

         24  that the children really have no place to play.

         25  They just don't have anyplace to play.  And that's
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          2  not something that can be tolerated.

          3                 In terms of the security issues, I

          4  just wanted to ask, if the issues regarding security

          5  in the public schools  -- they have lighting now.

          6  They're mandated to have lighting and certain

          7  security.  If the issue is that maybe perhaps it's

          8  cheaper to have security cameras outside you know,

          9  covering the ballfields --  I don't know if that's

         10  practical, but I know that certainly in the area

         11  that Councilman Fidler described, where public

         12  school sort of have a "U", where there's an area

         13  that's entirely discreet, having cameras someplace

         14  for security, additional security, besides the

         15  issues of employees making sure they show up and

         16  close up, maybe that would be helpful.  Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well I want to

         18  thank you all for coming in and giving testimony.

         19  And we appreciate it, and we look forward to working

         20  with you in trying to move forward on this

         21  resolution.  Thank you.

         22                 And next, we'll hear from Any

         23  Schwartz, from Public Health Association of New York

         24  City.  And George Rosales, from the American Heart

         25  Association.  Please come forward.  This is our last
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          2  panel.

          3                 Jim, do you have that CSA testimony?

          4  Jim?  Let me just say that before we begin your

          5  testimony, that we have written testimony submitted

          6  by CSA, the Council of Supervisors and

          7  Administrators of New York City.  Jill Levy, on

          8  behalf of her constituents, the members, principals

          9  and assistant principals, and supervisors.  Thank

         10  you.

         11                 Okay.  I'm sorry.  Amy Schwartz,

         12  Public Health Association of New York City.

         13  Welcome.

         14                 MS. SCHWARTZ: Thank you.  Good

         15  afternoon.  My name is Amy J. Schwartz, and I'm the

         16  Executive Director of the Public Health Association

         17  of New York City, or PHANYC.  We are an affiliate of

         18  the American Public Health Association, which is the

         19  national organization of public health

         20  professionals.  I'd like to thank the City Council

         21  Education Committee for holding this hearing on

         22  making public elementary school yards accessible for

         23  public use outside of school hours.

         24                      PHANYC, the City's largest and

         25  oldest organization of public health professionals
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          2  in New York City, supports the proposed Resolution

          3  Number 134- A, that calls upon the New York City

          4  Department of Education to hold open for public use

          5  outside of school hours, playgrounds and other

          6  recreational equipment located in school yards.

          7  According to the New York City Department of Health

          8  and Mental Hygiene, two in five elementary school

          9  children are overweight.  And among Black and Latino

         10  children, the rates are even higher.  A growing body

         11  of public health evidence links childhood overweight

         12  and obesity with serious health problems in

         13  adulthood.  However, according to the report of a

         14  U.S. Surgeon General and other sources, regular

         15  physical activity improves the quality and length of

         16  life.  Moving our bodies help us keep slim, and

         17  reduces our risk of heart disease, diabetes, high

         18  blood pressure, osteoporosis, and certain types of

         19  cancer, depression, anxiety, and sleep problems.

         20  Regular physical activity can increase students'

         21  concentration, reduce disruptive behavior, and

         22  improve academic achievement.

         23                 Unfortunately, New York City schools

         24  are not doing enough to provide regular

         25  opportunities for physical activity. Surveys show
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          2  that about 40 percent, and 25 percent  --  40

          3  percent of elementary, and 25 percent of high

          4  schools do not receive regular physical education

          5  classes for all students.  Do not provide this.

          6  Most elementary schools offer physical education, or

          7  PE, once, or at most, twice per week.

          8  Student/teacher ratios for elementary school PE are

          9  an estimated 730 to one.  That's 730 children to one

         10  adult PE class.  Most middle school PE classes have

         11  more than 50 students.  The percent of obese

         12  children has been shown to fall dramatically when PE

         13  instruction is expanded to a minimum of five hours

         14  per week.

         15                 The proposed resolution to make

         16  playgrounds and other recreational equipment

         17  available to children and young people in New York

         18  City after school hours offer a low cost and

         19  effective action to get New York City children

         20  moving more.  We encourage the City Council to pass

         21  this resolution, engage in more discussion, clearly

         22  discussion about the budget that's necessary to

         23  achieve this, and promoting resolution and the

         24  Department of Education to implement it.

         25                 The resolution to make school
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          2  playgrounds available after school hours is a first

          3  step in increasing opportunities for New York City

          4  children to become more active.  We recommend other

          5  actions as well for further discussion and

          6  discussion among the City Council.

          7                 One, expand opportunities for extra-

          8  curricular activities.  Spending on athletics in New

          9  York City schools is less than one tenth of that of

         10  nearby suburbs.  While 80 percent of elementary,

         11  middle, and high schools report having after- school

         12  programs, only 17 percent have before- school

         13  programs; seven percent of those have evening

         14  programs; and 11 percent have a weekend programs.

         15  Only one in three schools have intramurals; and

         16  barely one in ten high school students have the

         17  opportunity to play on competitive teams, the lowest

         18  population rate of any large U.S. City.

         19                 Another recommendation we have is

         20  two, enforce State regulations for PE, and hold

         21  schools accountable for their performance.  New York

         22  State requires that all students in K through 12

         23  must participate in a physical education program.

         24  This was discussed a little while before.  All

         25  pupils in grades K through three, on a daily basis.
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          2  This is the requirement.  Grades four through six

          3  are required to have not less than three times per

          4  week.  And grades seven through 12 are required to

          5  have not less than three times per week in one

          6  semester, and not less than two times per week in

          7  the other semester.  In total, students are required

          8  to have 120 minutes of required physical education

          9  per calendar week.

         10                 Three, we recommend the repair and

         11  upgrade of the school yards, playing fields, gyms,

         12  and other facilities.  The Mayor and the Department

         13  of Education should use some of the $11.2 billion is

         14  school construction aid approved by New York State

         15  in 2006, to repair recreational facilities, and halt

         16  the practice of eliminating gyms and yards to remedy

         17  overcrowding.  All new schools should be built with

         18  gyms.

         19                 Four, open school gyms and playing

         20  fields to children and young adults after school

         21  hours, in order to make safe, affordable place for

         22  physical activity more accessible.  The Shape Up

         23  Program, designed to increase physical activity and

         24  sponsored by the New York State Department of Health

         25  and Mental Hygiene, and the Department of Parks and
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          2  Recreation should be offered in schools, as well as

          3  in parks and recreational centers, and priority

          4  should go to neighborhoods with high rates of

          5  overweight and obesity.

          6                 In the past, the New York City

          7  Department of Education has sometimes argued that

          8  education is its top priority. And that its limited

          9  resources are best spent on improving student test

         10  scores.  It is our belief that the wealthiest city

         11  in the United States should not have to choose

         12  between the health and education of its children.

         13  Moreover, all available evidence suggests that

         14  healthy children are better learners, and that a

         15  better educated population is healthy.  By taking a

         16  first step to get New York City children moving

         17  more, the City Council can help make our children

         18  the best educated, and healthiest in the nation. And

         19  they deserve no less.  Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.  Let

         21  me just acknowledge the presence of Council Member

         22  Bill de Blasio, of Brooklyn.  And so I think in

         23  looking at both  --  I'm sorry.  I apologize.  I

         24  didn't go to you first.  Then let me just move to

         25  our next witness, George Rosales, of American Heart
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          2  Association.

          3                 MR. ROSALES: Thank you very much.  In

          4  light of the comments made in support of physical

          5  activity aspect, I'll keep my comments brief.

          6                 Good morning Chairman Jackson.  Or

          7  actually, good afternoon Members of the City Council

          8  Education Committee, and other distinguished guests.

          9    Thank you for inviting the American Heart

         10  Association to submit testimony on proposed

         11  Resolution 134- A, a proposal to open New York City

         12  school playgrounds after school hours.  My name is

         13  George Rosales, Director of Advocacy for the

         14  American Heart Association.  And it is a sincere

         15  pleasure to be here with you today.

         16                 In New York, we are seeing for the

         17  first time, unmistakable signs of the development of

         18  adult diseases in younger and younger children, who

         19  are overweight and sedentary, including high blood

         20  pressure, increased cholesterol, blocked arteries,

         21  diabetes, and other tell- tale signs and risks

         22  associated with cardiovascular degeneration.

         23                 And as our children become more

         24  overweight, they are less active, particularly at

         25  school.  Budget cuts within states, and an increase
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          2  focus on academics only during school hours, have

          3  forced many school systems to either greatly reduce

          4  or cut physical education programs for its students.

          5                 In the city as densely populated as

          6  New York, it is very important that more

          7  opportunities and venues to be physically active

          8  increase for all New Yorkers.  We believe that the

          9  proposal to open school yards outside of school

         10  hours is a very interesting idea, and warrants more

         11  discussion and planning.  It is essential that our

         12  elected officials play a role to make physical

         13  activity accessible to all citizens.  Schools should

         14  allow their neighbors to utilize recreational

         15  facilities after school hours, and they should be

         16  well lit and safe.  Sidewalks, bike trails, and

         17  community byways must be designed to drive people

         18  towards parks, schools, and recreational facilities.

         19    Schools should be zoned to encourage the children

         20  to walk to school, and the paths they should take

         21  also be safe and monitored.

         22                 And lastly, all of our children

         23  should be required to attend daily physical

         24  education classes that are fun, interesting, and

         25  encouraging a healthy lifestyle.  We must make the
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          2  choice to invest in the future of our children and

          3  their health, rather than let them slip into a life

          4  of lethargy and poor health.

          5                 The American Heart Association is a

          6  partner and an ally to the Council as we all

          7  continue to identify practical solutions to a

          8  complex problem.  Thank you for inviting us to be

          9  part of the discussion today.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         11  Council Member Brewer.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I want to

         13  thank both of you for your testimony.  And I think

         14  that we agree that the need is there for this kind

         15  of open space.  And for all the reasons that you

         16  cited.  My question would be to you, just very

         17  quickly, if you have some ideas about how it could

         18  be done.  We do need some security plan.  We do

         19  need, you know, an opening and closing.  And we do

         20  need funding.  And I just wanted to know if you

         21  wanted to comment on that.

         22                 MS. SCHWARTZ: I think that clearly,

         23  at the discussion earlier this morning, it addressed

         24  that.  What I'm hearing is the need for obviously,

         25  money.  For appropriate funding, and for a better
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          2  understanding of what it is that is needed for the

          3  labor.  I think the previous woman that was here

          4  before us spoke about some very innovative ways to

          5  ensure that there is a decrease in the risk of

          6  criminal activity or a decrease in bad behavior.

          7                 I think that we need to look beyond

          8  just our five boroughs of New York City.  I think we

          9  need to look at other states.  Clearly there are

         10  states  --  I think it was up in LA, that did just

         11  this.  They opened their school yards to beyond the

         12  regular school hours.  It's worth looking to see

         13  what they're doing.  I mean, we have  --  clearly

         14  there are other cities in the country that are

         15  dealing with these issues.  And obesity, as we know,

         16  as a health committee, had opened up public hearings

         17  a few months ago.  Obesity is a killer.  We are

         18  seeing it as an epidemic in New York City and the

         19  State, and the world.  And we're seeing diabetes.

         20  We are seeing the costs that are associated with

         21  caring for it, this disease.

         22                 So I think the way to look at is just

         23  not  --  this is just not a small issue.  It's part

         24  of a larger problem.  And if we frame it in that,

         25  and look beyond just the City for examples of how to
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          2  deal with this, and look for allies and partners,

          3  and collaborators.  Look to our organizations.  I'm

          4  talking a lot.  But I think that is one idea that

          5  you can undertake.

          6                 MR. ROSALES: Well I was interested in

          7  a few things. There may be a role to handle it by a

          8  school- by- school basis. Councilman Vacca also

          9  considered approaching it as a small pilot to see if

         10  it would be effective to drive more people to be

         11  physically active.

         12                 I also believe there's a role for our

         13  Borough Presidents.  I think this is an excellent

         14  opportunity for them to take a leadership role on

         15  this position, and maybe again, to fund maybe

         16  individual parks in their boroughs, to see how it is

         17  as a pilot program.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you.

         19  And I think just to follow up, the idea of having

         20  health partners.  That's why I mentioned the

         21  Department of Health when I spoke earlier, to see

         22  that they can be partners.  Because those are the

         23  kinds of issues that need to be addressed.  Thank

         24  you Mr. Chair.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.
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          2  Council Member Felder.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you

          4  Chair Jackson.  I just wanted to bring up an issue

          5  that we really are not discussing today, but perhaps

          6  maybe I sort of remember that there was something

          7  discussed I don't know, in a hearing  --  maybe not

          8  in a hearing  --  about the use of the public

          9  schools themselves after hours.  For example, for

         10  other schools, or for public use, making them more

         11  available.  I know that my experience has been that

         12  on the rare occasions that somebody wants to use the

         13  schools, it's a nightmare to try to get it done.

         14  And the facility is there.  And we understand that

         15  you have to pay the super or whatever it costs to be

         16  there late.  But there's no reason in the world that

         17  the facilities that exist, if they're able to use it

         18  for other  --  you know, during the Winter, for

         19  example.  Where you can't use the parks outside, but

         20  other schools in the neighborhood might want to have

         21  some sort of programs in the evening in the public

         22  schools. Whether that's something that we could work

         23  on, I would appreciate it.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Let me just ask

         25  the panel, as far as in your opinion, based on
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          2  whatever information that you have, are the students

          3  in New York City receiving the required State

          4  mandated, as far as physical education in the

          5  schools?

          6                 MS. SCHWARTZ: I smiled, because you

          7  asked that before as well.  According to data that

          8  we have found  --  and I can refer you to that data,

          9  and I can get more documentation on that as well  --

         10    we are finding that we are not receiving hours

         11  mandated by the State.  I need to refer to exactly

         12  the documentation, but we are finding that is the

         13  case.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  And I

         15  would like to have --  if you can contact the staff

         16  with reference to support your organization's

         17  position on that.  I don't know if you were here at

         18  the beginning of the hearing, where I mentioned the

         19  Public Advocate's report, and insideschools.org's

         20  report, and  --  I'm sorry.  Go ahead sir.  Any

         21  comment?

         22                 MR. ROSALES:  The short answer to

         23  that is no.  And I think a lot of that has to do

         24  with infrastructure also.  I think they have to pay

         25  particular attention to the actual infrastructure of
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          2  the schools.  Are there adequate facilities for

          3  students to participate in physical activity?

          4                 And there's also pressure to achieve

          5  academic standards now, with the No Child Left

          6  Behind Act, and the variety of different federal

          7  mandates.  So the short answer to that is no.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Yes. And that's

          9  why, I guess, you know, when the Department of

         10  Education official, Mr. Smarr, indicated that

         11  there's a presumption that every child is receiving

         12  the mandated instructional time that is physical

         13  education time, you know, it was like  --  anyway,

         14  because based on reports that I know, they are not.

         15  And I just think that there's no excuse to say that

         16  we cannot allow our children to have the necessary

         17  mandated by law physical education time, knowing the

         18  positive results of having the physical exercises

         19  and that's mandated by the State.

         20                 Hey.  Everyone wants our children to

         21  do well on exams.  But if they're absent from school

         22  because they're not healthy, or if they're too tired

         23  because they're bodies are not being exercised, or

         24  if they're obese and they have hypertension or other

         25  diseases, then they're not in school or they're not
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          2  in school at the level of physically being capable

          3  of learning the information.  So I just wanted to

          4  hear what the two of you, in your opinion was

          5  regarding whether or not, in your opinion, based on

          6  everything you know, whether or not the children of

          7  New York City was meeting the State mandated

          8  requirements as far as physical education.

          9                 Anything else?  Well I want to thank

         10  you both for coming in and testifying.  We have no

         11  other witnesses that are scheduled to give

         12  testimony.  Was there anyone else in the audience

         13  that wanted to give testimony today before we close

         14  this hearing?            Hearing none, I'll call

         15  this hearing closed.

         16

         17

         18                 The following written testimony was

         19  submitted for the record.

         20                 Written testimony of:

         21                 Jill S. Levy, President

         22                 Council of School Supervisors and

         23  Administrators

         24                 Good morning Chairman Jackson and

         25  members of the committee.  I want to commend all of
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          2  you for your unwavering interest in public education

          3  and the children and communities we serve.

          4                 I am Jill Levy, President of the

          5  Council of School Supervisors and Administrators,

          6  representing approximately 6,000 New York City

          7  public school principals, assistant principals,

          8  supervisors, and education administrators.  Thank

          9  you for the opportunity to testify before you on the

         10  issue of opening school yards to the public outside

         11  of school hours.  This is an important topic.

         12                 Conceptually, the issue of making

         13  school yards available for public use outside of

         14  school hours is something we can all agree with.

         15  Children and families around the City are in dire

         16  need of additional recreational space.

         17                 Unfortunately, this issue is more

         18  complicated than just leaving the gates unlocked and

         19  letting people use the facilities.  The Department

         20  of Education first needs to address several key

         21  issues.

         22                 The main obstacle for leaving school

         23  yards open is the lack of supervision.  The risks

         24  are tremendous.  Someone must ensure the safety and

         25  security of the yard after hours.  Will there be a
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          2  safety officer, a supervisor, a Parks Department

          3  employee or someone else available to ensure safety?

          4    Who will be liable and accountable if something

          5  goes wrong?

          6                 Maintenance and budgetary issues also

          7  need to be considered.  Cleanups will be necessary

          8  every morning before school starts, and additional

          9  trash pickup will be needed.  Additional wear- and-

         10  tear on equipment and vandalism will mean frequent

         11  refurbishments.  Will the Department of Education

         12  agree to be responsible for maintaining the

         13  playground?  Will the Parks Department?

         14                 Schools are not equipped to pay for

         15  additional resources, nor do they have the

         16  appropriate personnel.  Therefore, the burden of

         17  leaving playgrounds open cannot be put on Principals

         18  or individual schools.  By doing so, the Chancellor

         19  and the DoE would be abdicating their responsibility

         20  to the communities they serve.

         21                 The key to finding a reasonable

         22  solution to this issue rests on whether or not the

         23  Department of Education wants to allocate additional

         24  funding, shoulder additional legal liability, and

         25  hire additional personnel.  The aforementioned
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          2  concerns would need to be fully addressed to move

          3  forward.

          4                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          5  share our thoughts on this important matter.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 12:35 p.m.)
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